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RESILIENT.

STRONG.

FOCUSED.

TALENTED.

INNOVATIVE.



FOCUSED. INNOVATIVE. RESILIENT. STRONG. TALENTED.  

Combined they represent the attributes of why we are FIRST in the 
general insurance market and why we will continue to be FIRST in 
the years to come.

Our historic and continuing 
FOCUS is on our customers, 
partners, employees and the 
community and to remain 
First in every aspect of our 
business – from offering 
insurance products that 
meet customer needs, to 
providing prompt and fair 
claim settlements, to being 
an active and responsible 
corporate citizen.

INNOVATION is what 
ignites groundbreaking 
initiatives such as First 
Response, the First and 
most comprehensive on 
site accident assistance 
programme in The Bahamas.

Sound risk management 
practices have enabled 
Bahamas First to remain 
RESILIENT in the face 
of hurricanes and other 
catastrophic events as well 
as competitive threats.

Th e consolidated fi nancial st atements in this report include the accounts of Bahamas First  Holdings Limited (“BFH” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries which  are 
collect ively referred to as the “Group”. Th e subsidiaries are as follows: Bahamas First  General Insurance Company Limited (“BFG”), Cayman First  Insurance Company 
Limited (“CFI”), Nassau Underwriters Agency Insurance Agents & Brokers Ltd. (“NUA”), General Brokers & Agents Insurance Limited (“GBA”) (formerly General 
Brokers & Agents Limited), Bahamas First  Corporate Services Ltd. (“BFCS”), First  Resp onse Limited (“FRL”), BFH International Limited (“BFHIL”).



Focused. Innovative. Resilient. Strong. Talented.  

THAT’S BAHAMAS FIRST.

And the binding agent for 
the Company’s success 
is the TALENTED group of 
Board members, executives, 
managers, staff and 
authorized agents whose 
expertise, experience and 
dedication have established 
Bahamas First’s market 
leadership.

The Group’s historic STRONG 
financial performance is 
testament to our holistic 
management approach, 
one that embraces strong 
relationships with reinsurers, 
solid capitalization and 
conservative financial 
management strategies.
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2012 recorded a most satisfactory result of $5.7 million, despite the “visit” of 
Hurricane Sandy in October. Without this event your Company would have recorded 
its best ever operating result in its history. It is interesting to note that at the 
beginning of the year we had budgeted a projected result of $5.9 million!

This operating result demonstrates 
the wisdom by your Board to 
diversify our activities beyond 
The Bahamas in 2010. We have  
fully absorbed and integrated the 
Cayman operation into our Group, 
which recorded its best result since 
its acquisition. We shall continue 
to seek, in a careful and measured 
manner, further opportunities in 
the region, which is the best way 
to generate positive growth for 
BFH in the future. We have a strong 
reputation in the market, especially 
with our reinsurers, and need to take 
advantage of this position.

The world continued its slow, but 
relatively steady progress to some 
degree of normalcy after the Global 
Economic Recession, the worst since 
the 1930’s Depression. There were 
as usual “bumps in the road”. In 
the USA unemployment started to 
decrease and the property market 
regained some positive movement 
which augers well for the Bahamian 
property market. 

The highlight was the return of 
some industrial activity, which had 
previously gone “offshore”, largely 
as a result of higher labour costs in 
Asia, particularly in China, which 
decreased the cost advantage of 

that region, but also due to the ever 
reducing cost of power caused by 
the huge quantities of natural gas 
and oil finds from “fracking”. This 
provides a significant advantage for 
the USA over the next few years.

In Europe the economy steadied, but 
problems of the Euro, slow growth, 
an aging population, low fertility 
rates, high unemployment and high 
debt are still a significant drag on 
development and future progress, 
particularly in the Southern/
Mediterranean countries.

In the so called developing 
world, China, India and Brazil all 
experienced a slowing of their 
impressive growth pattern, although 
China started to show some positive 
signs as the year came to an end. 
Japan also demonstrated some 
signs of positive activity, after a very 
long period of stagnation.

In The Bahamas we had a change 
of government in the Spring. The 
new government has to grapple 
with the continuing challenges of 
slow growth, high unemployment, 
high expenditure and a challenging 
income generation pattern. 

However, the signs are encouraging 
as a result of the new airport in 
Nassau, the new road system and 
increased Foreign Direct Investment, 
particularly BahaMar.

In closing, there continues to be 
much to do to retain our positive 
momentum. It cannot be recorded 
too often, but I want to again repeat 
your Board’s deep appreciation 
of and respect for the long term 
commitment, dedication, loyalty and 
support from all of our stakeholders; 
our shareholders, executive, 
staff, agents, reinsurers and most 
importantly our customers, for 
without them we surely would not 
have a business to operate. Thank 
you to each and every one of you!

Your Board continues to be 
extremely focused on the smooth 
running of its business and to 
the future development of your 
Company.

IAN D. FAIR
CHAIRMAN

MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIRMAN

IAN D. FAIR “
We have a strong reputation 
in the market, especially 
with our reinsurers, and 
need to take advantage of 
this position.”
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We were fortunate to see a reprieve from the extraordinary level of claims activity 
that characterized 2011, both internationally, and within the Caribbean Region. 
Despite the occurrence of Hurricane Sandy, the second major storm event to impact 
The Bahamas in as many years, the property and casualty segment of our business 
delivered positive Underwriting results, validating the scale and scope of our 
geographic and product line diversification.

While the current estimates for 
insurance claims expected from 
Sandy show a combined global 
loss of $25 billion, the worldwide 
insured catastrophe losses for 
2012 were contained within the 
range of the average annual losses 
over the preceding ten (10) year 
period.  The consequence of this 
fact, for companies operating in 
the region, was that the availability 
of reinsurance support was not 
materially altered for the 2013 
renewal season.

In The Bahamas, we recorded 
some 358 claims generating gross 
losses of $8.6 million arising from 
Hurricane Sandy.  This accounted 
for a substantial share of the overall 
gross claims of $46 million, which 
compares favourably with a gross 
incurred total of $58.8 million in 2011. 
The overall claims ratio in 2012 was 
43% compared to 51% in 2011.

The Group’s Health business, which 
is written exclusively by CFI, turned 
in a stellar performance during 2012, 
the result of an aggressive resetting 
of our approach to the business 
and the disciplined execution of our 
turnaround strategy.

The combined impact of the 
favourable Health results together 
with the improved performance of 
the Property & Casualty portfolio in 

CFI pushed this entity’s share of the 
Group’s bottom-line result up to a 
proportionately higher level.

The Group’s total profit for the year 
increased to $5.1 million, compared 
to $1.0 million in 2011, despite the 
substantial unrealized loss on 
an equity investment which was 
$0.770 million in 2012. The total 
comprehensive income increased to 
$5.7 million, significantly outpacing 
the 2011 result of $0.8 million, and of 
this amount $5 million is attributable 
to the owners of the parent.

The combined ratio for 2012, 
reduced to 95%, as a result of 
the lower claims ratio, and a 
containment of the expense ratio at 
33%.  As a result of this favourable 
development, the net underwriting 
income increased to $23.8 million 
which is just shy of the Group’s 
record of $24 million which we 
achieved in 2010. The Company’s 
total equity increased to $47 million 
from $44 million a year ago, an 
increase of 6%, while earnings per 
common share increased from $0.01 
to $0.14 in 2012.

The improvements in the Group’s overall 
performance allowed for an increase in 
the dividend payments declared in 2012, 
totaling some five (5) cents per share, 
and the Board is scheduled to consider a 
further distribution in 2013. 

Both CFI and BFG were able to retain 
the A.M. Best Rating of A- (Excellent), 
and in the case of the former, the 
outlook has been raised to stable 
from negative, in line with BFG’s 
current outlook.

January 31, 2013 marked the 
retirement date of a loyal and 
dedicated Executive of the Group in 
the person of Pauline Ward.  Pauline 
has always been a committed 
professional and she has left an 
indelible mark on the activities 
of the Group, particularly within 
BFG where she last served as a 
Director and Senior Vice President, 
Underwriting & Reinsurance. Pauline 
will remain on the Board of BFG and 
we wish her a happy retirement, and 
all the best for the future!

We are confident that the 
significant investment in technology, 
Human Resources and additional 
operational infrastructure has 
provided a platform for sustainable 
performance in the long term, and 
we look forward to the opportunity 
to embrace all that the future holds.
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MESSAGE FROM 
THE PRESIDENT

PATRICK WARD “
The improvements in the 
Group’s overall performance 
allowed for an increase 
in the dividend payments 
declared in 2012.”

PATRICK G. W. WARD
PRESIDENT & CEO
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012
In Bahamian $ ‘000s, except for per share data and ratios

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2012 2011

(restated)
% Change 2010

(restated)

Total assets  175,738  175,806 0%  182,458 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent  44,501  41,865 6%  42,951 

Book value per common share  1.08  1.01  1.05 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Gross premiums written  157,796  151,742 4%  153,089 

Net written premiums  61,707  61,116 1%  62,036 

Net premiums earned  60,641  61,531 -1%  61,509 

Commission income  22,479  22,710 -1%  25,742 

Net claims incurred  25,818  31,607 -18%  26,982 

Net underwriting income  23,835  18,877 26%  24,019 

Other income  2,184  2,494 -12%  2,490 

Total comprehensive income  5,689  808 604%  2,903 

Total comprehensive income

   attributable to owners of the parent  5,035  479 952%  3,700 

Earnings per common share  0.14  0.01  0.10 

RATIOS

Solvency ratio 72% 69% 73%

Combined ratio 95% 103% 98%

Loss ratio 43% 51% 44%

Expense ratio 33% 33% 37%

SOLVENCY RATIO Total equity attributable to owners of the parent as a % of net written premiums  
COMBINED RATIO Net underwriting & administrative expenses as a % of net premiums earned  
LOSS RATIO Net claims incurred as a % of net premiums earned  
EXPENSE RATIO Administrative expenses as a % of net premiums earned  

SUMMARY OF RESULTS
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THE COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE 
within The Bahamas and Cayman 

markets continued to evolve during 
2012, with a number of new property 
and casualty players emerging on the 
scene.  We fully expect the level and 
intensity of competition for business 
to increase in the short to mid-term, 
in both locations, given the attractive 
features that characterize the 
business environment in The Bahamas 
and the Cayman Islands.

Concurrent with these developments 
is the likely potential for market 
consolidation which, for well 
positioned companies, will create 
unique expansion opportunities.  
Given the inherent complications 
of our business and the difficulty 
in generating meaningful organic 
growth, we have developed a posture 
that allows for the ability to quickly 
respond to opportunities within 
our operating jurisdictions, while 
broadening our outlook for properly 
structured deals in select countries 
within the region.

Expanding our footprint in a manner 
that makes prudent sense will provide 
us with additional scale, and the 
ability to leverage the benefits of 
size across a bigger platform.  The 
diversity, in geographic terms, can 
also provide a better risk profile, 
as evidenced in the last two years, 
thereby enhancing shareholder value 
within an acceptable risk tolerance 
framework.

HURRICANE SANDY DEVELOPMENTS

For the second year in a row we have 
had to deal with the claims activity 
associated with a natural catastrophe 
event, as a consequence of the impact 
of Sandy, which made landfall on the 
25th October, 2012.

The total gross and net claims from 
Sandy were approximately one third 
of the total claims emanating from 
Hurricane Irene which occurred 
fourteen (14) months earlier.  

The Bahamian market as a whole, 
had a fairly bad experience with 
the quality of loss adjusting talent 
available, in the aftermath of Irene 
and the numerous preceding 
worldwide catastrophes. 

As a result of a number of proactive 
measures in relation to our hurricane 
contingency planning, we were able 
to mitigate the impact of some of 
the problems that were encountered 
in 2011, and avoid a carryover into 
2012.  There is no doubt that the 
outcome was positively influenced by 
this course of action both in terms of 
quality of execution and the quantity 
of the overall claims spend.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

The economic environment in the 
region remains challenging but a slow 
but steady pace of recovery can still 
be seen in both The Bahamas and the 
Cayman Islands.  

We experienced a mixed bag of 
results in terms of growth across 
the various product lines and 
geographical locations, but, in overall 
terms, the Group registered a 4% 
increase in gross written premium 
during 2012 as compared with 2011.

2012 2011

Gross Written 
Premium (GWP) $157.8M $151.7M

Net Written 
Premium (NWP) $61.7M $61.1M

NWP were up by 1% in 2012, compared 
to the prior year and reflects, more 
closely, the organic growth in our 
core business in both of the insurance 
company subsidiaries.  On a gross 
basis the property and casualty 
account grew by 9% in The Bahamas, 
while Cayman showed a decline of 4% 
in 2012, compared to 2011.

The overall growth in premium 
income during 2012, has resulted in 
an increase to unearned premium 
reserve charge, in excess of $1 million, 
compared to a release of $0.414 
million in 2011, a difference of $1.5 
million.  This development, which will 
prove to be a positive scenario for 
2013, together with loss of incoming 
reinsurance commissions due to the 
“Sandy” impact has resulted in a 
reduction in the underwriting income 
to $79.5 million from the prior year 
figure of $81.3 million.

Net property and casualty claims 
reduced to $10.2 million compared 
to the $12.7 million in 2011, a 17.4% 
reduction, which is a reflection of 
the difference in the cost of Sandy 
vs. Irene. The total underwriting 
expenses reduced to $59.3 million 
in 2012 compared to $65.4 million in 
2011, a 10% reduction.

The Administrative related expenses 
declined by 2% in 2012, compared to 
the prior year, while net underwriting 
income saw a dramatic improvement 
to $23.8 million compared to 
$18.9 million, a positive variance 
of 26%. The excellent technical 
results were primarily driven by 
the good underlying property 
and casualty performance in both 
Cayman, and to a lesser extent The 
Bahamas, particularly the significant 
improvement in the CFI Health 
Account.

2012 YEAR IN REVIEW
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Property: We continue to observe 
a trend by consumers to shift away 
from the more traditional forms of 
personal and commercial covers, 
which incorporates catastrophe 
protection, to either non-catastrophe 
forms of cover or catastrophe cover 
with higher deductible levels.

In The Bahamas, the combined values 
for all catastrophe-exposed property 
business have declined by less than 
1% over the last five (5) year period, 
while the corresponding data for non-
catastrophe business has shown an 
increase of 21%. The total values for 
both categories have increased by 6% 
over the same time, but a significant 
number of policyholders have opted 
for higher deductible levels in excess 
of the standard 2%.

In Cayman, the position in 2012 was 
relatively flat compared to the prior 
year, in terms of the combined values 
for catastrophe-exposed business, but 
the trend towards higher deductibles 
showed a very similar pattern of 
development.

The Group’s gross written 
premium for property business 
now amounts to $81 million which 
positively contributed to the overall 
underwriting profit in both Cayman 
and The Bahamas, despite the impact 
of Hurricane Sandy.

Motor & Liability: The total insured 
vehicle count remained relatively flat 
in both Cayman and The Bahamas 
which is yet again a feature of the 
overall economic environment.  The 
buying trend towards more pre-
owned vehicle purchases continued 
in The Bahamas and accounted for 
a more pronounced shift away from 

comprehensive motor covers to third 
party covers, resulting in 80% of our 
total vehicle count falling into this 
category.  

There was no such movement in the 
mix of vehicles insured within Cayman 
and, on a combined basis, the Group’s 
gross written premium for motor/
liability now stands at $35 million. The 
contribution to the underwriting profit 
from these two casualty lines continues 
to be very strong. The performance in 
each location was excellent throughout 
the year, notwithstanding the impact 
of Hurricane Sandy and the occurrence 
of a number of sizeable personal injury 
claims. 

The total motor claims frequency in 
The Bahamas increased fairly sharply 
from 2508 to 2972 claims, but the 
average cost per claim was contained 
at the prior year’s level – largely as a 
result of the significant cost mitigation 
advantage we derive from the activities 
of the First Response Unit. 

The frequency and severity of claims 
within Cayman remained largely 
unchanged from the prior year.

Health: The Health Account generated 
gross premiums of $22 million in 2012, 
slightly down from the prior year figure 
of $23 million, but this is largely due to a 
strategic initiative aimed at improving 
the quality of the portfolio. 

The total claims incurred in 2012 from 
this line of business was $15.6 million 
down dramatically from the prior year’s 
total of $18.9 million, a reduction of $3.3 
million or 18%.  The Earned Loss Ratio 
(ELR) for this class was 71%, as compared 
to 82.4% in 2011, and well within the 
budgeted target for this line of business.

We continue to restrict our exposure 
to this product to the Cayman Islands, 
which delivered its highest total 
contribution to the underwriting 
result for our CFI subsidiary in recent 
times. We will continue to focus on 
adequate pricing, claims control 
and the efficient delivery of services 
in order to preserve and enhance 
the current balance of revenue and 
expenses associated with this line of 
business. 

Marine: The Marine portfolio 
has experienced a substantial 
improvement in the performance of 
the account with a loss ratio less than 
a quarter of the average of the prior 
two years. The Bahamas market has 
seen a recent reduction in the number 
of reported vessel thefts and this has, 
no doubt, influenced the result for 
2012. 

The premium income achieved in 
2012, was relatively flat compared to 
2011, and fortunately, Hurricane Sandy 
did not have a material impact on 
the overall profitability of this line of 
business.

Engineering: The gross written 
premiums recorded for this line of 
business increased marginally in 2012, 
over 2011, which reflects the continued 
inflow of Contractor’s All Risk (CAR) 
business and the associated bond 
placements.  

As public infrastructure and 
commercial projects continue to come 
on stream in both The Bahamas and 
the Cayman Islands, we expect to 
continue our participation in these 
ventures through the provision of risk 
management and insurance solutions 
for our existing and new clients.

2012 YEAR IN REVIEW
Continued



10BAHAMAS FIRST HOLDINGS
2012 ANNUAL REPORT

2012 YEAR IN REVIEW
Continued

INVESTMENT & ASSET MANAGEMENT:

The Investment climate in the region 
reflects the worldwide scenario as it 
relates to:

• Low interest rates on deposits.
• Lingering doubts about equity 

investments. 
• The overhang of the continuous, 

albeit declining, Euro Zone crisis 
and the slow pace of recovery in 
the USA.

As a consequence of these factors, 
the Group continues to refine its 
investment strategies and guidelines 
in order to maintain a proper balance 
between risk tolerance levels and 
realistic returns to the portfolio of 
investment assets.

Total investment assets increased 
to $58 million from $54 million, while 
the cash component of this amount 
increased by 10% alone, compared 
to 2011, despite the cash demands of 
Hurricane Sandy.

The total investment income in 2012, 
including unrealized gains (losses) on 
available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments 
totaled $1.3 million compared to $2.4 
million in 2011.  The majority of this 
reduction was linked to the unrealized 
loss on the Group’s Commonwealth 
Bank equity holding which declined 
by $0.770 million at December 2012.

During the year, NUA, our main 
subsidiary operating in the 
intermediary sector, acquired the 
portfolio of a long time Sub-Agent, 
the Joshua Culmer Insurance Agency 
(Eleuthera). 

In a separate transaction, it also 
acquired the portfolio of a long-time 
BFG agent, the Bethel Thompson 

Insurance Agency, thereby 
allowing BFG to retain 100% of the 
premium revenue associated with 
both transactions.  The combined 
premiums for both entities were $2.5 
million in 2012 and should generate 
positive earnings for NUA within the 
initial year.

Capital Management & Enterprise 
Risk Management (ERM)

The capital position, at a subsidiary 
level for both BFG and CFI, remain 
strong and well above the minimum 
levels required by the regulators in 
the respective jurisdictions.  In the 
case of BFG, actual solvency margin 
exceeded the required solvency 
margin by $4.7 million at the close 
of 2012.  While this is down from the 
amount in 2011, it is nevertheless 
significantly above the mandated 
capital levels.

The Cayman Islands continues to 
define the solvency requirements 
more precisely, but we fully expect 
to be significantly above the 
minimum requirements, when fully 
implemented.

An important part of our capital 
management and preservation 
plans is heavily dependent on a 
functioning and effective Enterprise 
Risk Management.  We are already 
observing signs that point to the fact 
that ERM will become a differentiator 
for financial service businesses 
and insurers in particular, in the 
Caribbean region, both from a 
Regulatory, Reinsurer and Investor 
perspective. 

The scope and complexity of our 
ERM systems were developed and 
designed to mirror the scope and 
complexity of our operational and 

other business related exposures.  
It also provides the Board and 
Management with a much more 
detailed and wide ranging 
perspective of the existing and 
evolving threats to our various 
business units.

Future Outlook

The Regional Property and Casualty 
sectors will continue to face many 
challenges in the short to mid-term 
on several fronts.  The anaemic 
economic environment, and the 
attendant side effects of crime and 
the retardation of opportunities 
will continue to create hurdles for 
operational efficiency and improved 
performance.

The recruitment and development 
of talent is also a massive challenge 
which, unfortunately, does not receive 
the attention and level of financial 
investment it deserves from the 
participants in the insurance sector.
It is imperative that we continue to find 
ways to make innovation, across the 
enterprise, a defining characteristic of 
who we are, and the way we do 
business as an organization. 

PATRICK G. W. WARD
President & CEO

GLEN O. A. RITCHIE
Group VP & CFO
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NOW IN ITS THIRD FULL YEAR as 
a member of the Bahamas First 

Group of Companies, CFI has re-
established itself as a strong force 
in the highly competitive Cayman 
insurance market. 

Some fourteen domestic companies 
compete for business in either or 
both of the Property and Casualty 
(P&C) or Health Insurance segments. 
In addition, there are a number 
of overseas companies which 
write business in Cayman even 
though they do not have a physical 
presence in the country with a 
population of slightly more than 
50,000.  

Unlike the Bahamas market, 
policyholders are not obliged 
to place business through 
intermediaries and approximately 
one-third of CFI’s business is 

placed directly with and serviced 
by the company. An important 
factor making CFI a good fit 
within the Group is the similarity 
of underwriting philosophies. Both 
companies are conservative in this 
regard, and the results of this were 
evident in 2012. 

Last year the P&C division continued 
to perform steadily, and on the back 
of considerable tightening of Health 
underwriting, the Health division 
was returned to profitability. This 
has been an area of primary focus 
for the past two years, and the 
oversight from the Board played 
an important role in achieving this 
turnaround.

The company has evolved to meet 
the changing circumstances in its 
environment with the transition to 
the Cayman First brand being the 

latest in the evolutionary chain. 
There has been an ideal blending of 
the experience of the Cayman First 
staff and the extensive resources 
of the Bahamas First Group. This 
collaboration has benefited the 
company and by extension, the 
Group. 

The Group provides support in 
critical areas such as IT, Finance, 
HR, Internal Audit, and through the 
Board, Corporate Governance has 
been strengthened. The company 
is currently actively participating 
in the Group’s implementation of 
Enterprise Risk Management.

On April 2, 2013 the company will 
have celebrated 29 years of 
operation. Staff continuity over this 
period has been instrumental in 
creating a stable, experienced and 
successful operating platform. A 
number of staff members have been 
with the company for in excess of 
20 years, some in excess of 25 
years. 

FOCUSED ON SUCCESS

MICHAEL GAYLE
GENERAL MANAGER

The Cayman First Team
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WHEN FIRST RESPONSE WAS 
LAUNCHED in August 2007 

it exemplified the Company’s 
commitment to innovation and its 
determination to remain first in 
providing value-added services to 
its authorized agents and through 
them the thousands of Bahamians 
who trust Bahamas First for their 
automotive insurance needs.

First Response was the first 
company in The Bahamas offering 
on-location accident assistance 
and support to customers in New 
Providence whose vehicles are 
insured through BFG.

In 2012 First Response added 
a new element of innovation 
to create the most advanced 
on location motor accident 
service and support program in 
New Providence, offered at no 
additional cost. By introducing 
added state-of-the-art technology 
to its fleet of vans, First Response 
professionals can now expedite 
claims adjustment at the scene of 
the accident and continue to look 
after the client’s care and needs 
right through the repair process.

This same technology has also 
created a new and expanded role 
for First Response to undertake 
online inspections of a client’s 
vehicle at an agent’s office on a 
real time remote basis. Clients 
benefit by not having to travel 
to BFG for the inspection and 
authorized agents benefit by 
being able to offer their clients 
a convenient motor inspection 
service. This includes Family 
island clients who now receive 
the same convenient pre and post 
loss inspections as clients in New 
Providence.

Since its launch the bold and 
distinctive First Response vans 
have become as common a sight 
at accident locations as other 
emergency response vehicles. 
Now with the benefit of advanced 
technology, First Response leads 
the way in delivering the most 
comprehensive motor accident 
assistance and inspection 
programmes in the country. 

INNOVATION KEEPS IT 
FIRST OF ITS KIND
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THE BAHAMAS FIRST GROUP OF 
COMPANIES has a long and 

proud history of contributing to the 
community.  But it’s our management 
and staff who have always made the 
real difference in these efforts both 
financially and more importantly in 
terms of the time, talent and personal 
commitments they give to the many 
worthwhile programmes and causes 
on behalf of our companies in The 
Bahamas and Cayman.

Sponsorship of a Junior Achievement 
(JA) company highlighted Bahamas 
First community activities in 2012. 
JA students were not only given the 
challenge of running their company 
under the direction of Bahamas First 
mentors but were also expected to 
contribute their time by assisting 
at the Persis Rodgers Home for the 
Aged.

In Cayman, involvement in Cayman’s 
ARK (Acts of Random Kindness) 
Foundation and the provision of 
school supplies to special needs 
students typified grassroots 
community involvement by CFI staff. 
In total, 23 organizations in The 
Bahamas and 16 in Cayman as well 
as various sports, school and church 
clubs in both countries benefited from 
Group and employee involvement in 
2012. 

In The Bahamas they included:

• Bahamas Air Sea Rescue 
Association

• Bahamas Flag Football League
• Bahamas Red Cross
• Bahamas Swimming Federation
• Bahamas Technical and 

Vocational Institute
• Cancer Society of The Bahamas 
• International Cultural Festival
• Junior Achievement Bahamas
• Marathon Bahamas
• North Eleuthera Community Youth 

Program

• Persis Rodgers Home for the Aged
• Physically Challenged Children’s 

Committee
• Pilot Club of Nassau
• Ranfurly Home for Children
• Rotary Club 
• Royal Bahamas Police Force
• Royal Rangers Boys Club
• Special Olympics Bahamas
• Stop-Think-B-4-U-Act Prison 

Initiative
• The Bahamas Children’s 

Emergency Hostel
• The Kiwanis Club of Nassau
• The Nassau Chapter of The Links Inc.
• Various Church, School and 

Sporting Organizations

In Cayman, support was provided to:

• Cayman Breast Cancer 
Foundation

• Cayman Islands Cancer Society
• Cayman Heart Fund
• Feed Our Future
• Youth Development Basketball 

Program
• Cayman National Basketball Team
• Cayman Islands First National 

Health Survey
• Cayman Road Safety Handbook
• Cayman Islands Marathon
• Cayman Islands Red Cross
• Cayman Islands Veterans 

Association
• Cayman Islands Volleyball 

Federation
• RCIPS Welfare Fund
• Sports Association of the Sister 

Islands
• Lighthouse School
• ARK Foundation
• Various Church, School and 

Sporting Organizations in Grand 
Cayman and Cayman Brac

The Board is proud of, and would like 
to thank, the many employees who, so 
unselfishly, give so much to the 
communities in which we work and 
live. 

BRINGING OUR TALENT TO THE COMMUNITY 
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DRIVING CHANGE INSIDE AND OUT

THE INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

DURING 2012, THE BOARD AND 
EXECUTIVE Management 

implemented a formal process 
for managing risk across the 
entire Group called Enterprise 
Risk Management (ERM). ERM is a 
continuous operational and strategic 
risk monitoring process, to ensure 
an entity’s objectives are met. The 
formal launch of ERM began with a 
workshop hosted by Munich Re in 
May 2012.

At this workshop Management 
identified risks in the various business 
units, assessed the likelihood and 
impact of those risks occurring, and 
identified the causes and effects 
of those risks.  Management then 
used that information to populate 
a Risk Register for their individual 
business unit. The Board and Executive 
Management then developed an 
ERM Policy which details the risk 
appetite of the Group and specific risk 
tolerance levels in various areas.  

Going forward, Managers are required 
to certify on a quarterly basis that they 
have identified the most significant risks 
on their Risk Register, that controls are in 
place to mitigate those risks and whether 
current processes require improvements.

To assist Management with implementing 
ERM, the Internal Audit Department (IAD) 
was established. In August 2012, Anishka 
Collie joined the Management Team 
of Bahamas First as the Group Senior 
Internal Auditor. 

Anishka is a Certified Public 
Accountant (CPA).  She has eleven 
years of experience with Deloitte 
Bahamas Audit and Enterprise Risk 
Services Practice and ended her 
public accounting career as a Senior 
Manager. 

The duties of the Internal Auditor 
include independently and objectively 
evaluating and improving risk 
management, control and governance 
processes.  To establish 
independence, the IAD reports 
findings directly to the Audit 
Committee who oversee how 
Management monitors compliance 
with risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the 
adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks that 
face the Group.  To establish 
objectivity the IAD is not involved in 
daily operations and does not 
perform accounting transactions. 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
DRIVING INNOVATION

INNOVATION COULDN’T BE MORE 
EVIDENT WITHIN the Bahamas First 

Group of Companies than in the area 
of Information Technology. 

Over the past two years MITASA 
(Making Information Technology A 
Strategic Advantage), a programme 
driven by four staff members  from 
cross-functional areas, has been the 
genesis of a number of information 
technology-based projects designed 
to deliver new and innovative  
customer services, to improve 
productivity and to provide the 
company with a competitive edge in 
both The Bahamas and Cayman.

The most public of these projects is 
the introduction of “Smart” vans for 
the First Response accident scene 
assistance service.  

Each “Smart” van is 
now equipped with 
GPS technology to 
improve response 
times to accident 
scenes and to assist 
in tracking them 
while they are away 
from their home 
base.  First Response 
professionals are 
also now using 
tablet technology 
to expedite claims 
adjustment at the 
scene of the accident.

Internally the MITASA team has 
implemented the first phase 
of an intranet application that 
has improved the efficiency of  
information sharing and overall 
document management. Phase one 
involves departments whose data is 
time and volume sensitive.

The MITASA team is currently working 
on a major technology driven project  
that will further strengthen the 
Group’s competitive position, creating 
a lasting strategic advantage through 
Information Technology that 
facilitates new and innovative ways 
to deliver customer services and 
improve productivity. 

Anishka Collie, CPA
Group Senior Internal Auditor 

The MITASA Team
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BHARAT KANNAN DIRECTOR 
A Director since June 2011, Mr. 
Kannan is Vice President, Finance 
and Controller of Economical Mutual 
Insurance Company (Economical). 
He started at Economical in 2001 
and has over 15 years of financial 
experience. Mr. Kannan is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Ontario and holds a 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) 
designation.

PATRICK G.W. WARD DIRECTOR 
Group President & CEO 
Mr. Ward has been a Director since 
1998 and prior to that President and 
Managing Director of Bahamas First 
General Insurance Company Ltd. He 
is President and CEO of Bahamas 
First Holdings Limited, Bahamas 
First General Insurance Company 
Limited and Bahamas First Corporate 
Services Ltd.

JUDITH WHITEHEAD DIRECTOR 
A Director since 2005, Mrs. 
Whitehead is the Managing Partner 
of Graham Thompson & Co, a 
leading law firm in Nassau, Bahamas. 
She has served on various other 
company and civic boards.

JOHN A.G. DUNKLEY DIRECTOR 
Mr. Dunkley has been a Director since 
1996. He was President and Managing 
Director of Nassau Underwriters 
Brokers & Agents up to December 31, 
2010, and a Director of Bahamas First 
Corporate Services Ltd. He was also 
a Board member for Bahamas First 
General Insurance Company Limited 
from 1991 to 1997.

IAN D. FAIR CHAIRMAN 
Mr. Fair has been the Chairman 
of the Board and a member of 
the Board of Directors since 1999. 
He is Chairman of the Bahamas 
International Securities Exchange 
and Deputy Chairman of Butterfield 
Bank (Bahamas) Limited. He also 
serves as Chairman of the Grand 
Bahama Port Authority.

ALISON TRECO DIRECTOR 
Ms. Treco was appointed as a Director 
of the Bahamas First Holdings Limited 
and several of its subsidiary companies’ 
boards in 2012.  Ms. Treco previously 
served on the audit committee of 
Bahamas First Holdings Limited.  She 
is a Director of FT Consultants Ltd., a 
firm specializing in accounting advisory 
services.

GLEN O. A. RITCHIE DIRECTOR 
Vice President & CFO 
Mr. Ritchie was appointed as a 
Director of BFH in May 2012.  He is Vice 
President and CFO of BFH, overseeing 
all financial, information technology 
and risk management related 
functions within the Group.  Prior to 
joining BFH, he held a number of senior 
management and leadership roles in 
both banking and insurance institutions 
in The Bahamas.

KAREN GAVAN DIRECTOR 
A Director since June 2011, Ms. Gavan 
is President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Economical Mutual 
Insurance Company. She has 30 
years of experience in the Canadian 
financial services industry. Ms. Gavan  
was formerly the Chief Operating 
Officer of Transamerica Life Canada 
and AEGON Fund Management Inc. 
She is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Ontario.

J. LASHELL ADDERLEY SECRETARY 
Miss Adderley is the Corporate 
Secretary of BFH and its subsidiary 
companies.  She also serves as 
the Group’s Legal and Compliance 
Manager.  Prior to joining BFH, Miss 
Adderley worked as a Civil Litigation 
Attorney.

DIRECTORS & OFFICERS
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To the Shareholders of
      Bahamas First Holdings Limited:

e ha e a dited the onsolidated nan ial statements of Bahamas First Holdings Limited the ro  hi h om rise the onsolidated statement of 
nan ial osition as at e em er 1  1  and the onsolidated statements of om rehensi e in ome hanges in e it  and ash o s for the ear then 

ended  and a s mmar  of signi ant a o nting oli ies and other e lanator  information

anagement is res onsi le for the re aration and fair resentation of these onsolidated nan ial statements in a ordan e ith nternational Finan ial 
e orting Standards  and for s h internal ontrol as management determines is ne essar  to ena le the re aration of onsolidated nan ial statements 

that are free from material misstatement  hether d e to fra d or error

Auditors’ responsibility

r res onsi ilit  is to e ress an o inion on these onsolidated nan ial statements ased on o r a dit   e ond ted o r a dit in a ordan e ith 
nternational Standards on diting  Those Standards re ire that e om l  ith ethi al re irements and lan and erform the a dit to o tain reasona le 
ass ran e a o t hether the onsolidated nan ial statements are free from material misstatement

n a dit in ol es erforming ro ed res to o tain a dit e iden e a o t the amo nts and dis los res in the onsolidated nan ial statements  The ro ed res 
sele ted de end on the a ditors  dgment  in l ding the assessment of the ris s of material misstatement of the onsolidated nan ial statements  hether 
d e to fra d or error  n ma ing those ris  assessments  the a ditors onsider internal ontrol rele ant to the entit s re aration and fair resentation of 
the onsolidated nan ial statements in order to design a dit ro ed res that are a ro riate in the ir mstan es  t not for the r ose of e ressing 
an o inion on the e e ti eness of the entit s internal ontrol  n a dit also in l des e al ating the a ro riateness of a o nting oli ies sed and the 
reasona leness of a o nting estimates made  management  as ell as e al ating the o erall resentation of the onsolidated nan ial statements

e elie e that the a dit e iden e e ha e o tained is s i ient and a ro riate to ro ide a asis for o r a dit o inion

Opinion

n o r o inion  the onsolidated nan ial statements resent fairl  in all material res e ts  the nan ial osition of Bahamas First Holdings Limited as at 
e em er 1  1  and its nan ial erforman e and its ash o s for the ear then ended in a ordan e ith nternational Finan ial e orting Standards

ril  1

eloitte  To he
hartered o ntants

and Management Consultants
nd Terra e  Centre ille
  Bo  1
assau  Bahamas

Tel: 1  
Fa : 1  1 1
htt : deloitte om

 mem er rm of
eloitte Tou he Tohmatsu

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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These onsolidated nan ial statements ere a ro ed  the Board of ire tors on Mar h  1  and are signed on its ehalf :
 
          Chairman    ire tor
         an  Fair   atri    ard 

See notes to onsolidated nan ial statements

ASSETS
Notes December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

(restated)
January 1, 2011

(restated)

   Cash $  1 1  $  11 1  $  1  

   Term de osits  1      

   Trade a ounts re ei a le  net  1 1    1  

   Sundr  re ei a les and re a ments 1    1 1   1  

   eferred ommission osts 1  1   1 1  1  

   eferred reinsuran e remiums 1  1   1    

   n aid laims re o era le from reinsurers 11  11   1   1 1  

   n estments    1    

   n estment in asso iate       

   ro ert  and e ui ment 1  1   11 11  1 1  

   ntangi le assets and good ill 1  11   11 11   11  

   ro ision for litigation re o era le 1      1 1 1  

   ue from es ro  agent 1       

TOTAL $  175,737,593 $  175,805,887 $  182,457,838 

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities:
   rued lia ilities $  1 1  $   $   
   Trade a ounts a a le  1   1    

   Unearned commission income 1    1 1   1  
   Unearned remiums 1  1   1 1 1   111 
   Un aid claims 11    1   1 
   Provision for litigation 1  1 1      
   Loan a a le 1    1    
   Bonds a a le 1  1   1   1  
          Total liabilities  128,503,697  131,861,683  137,712,308 

 Equity:
   Common shares 1       
   Preference shares 1       
   Contri uted sur lus  1   1   1  

   Treasur  shares 1   1  1
   eneral reserve 1       
   Revaluation reserve 1       
   Retained earnings  1 11   1 1  1 1  
          Total e uit  attri uta le to o ners of the arent    1   1  
   on controlling interest    1  1  

          Total equity  47,233,896  43,944,204  44,745,530 
TOTAL $  175,737,593 $  175,805,887 $  182,457,838 

AS AT DECEMBER 2012,  EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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See notes to consolidated nancial statements

Notes 2012 2011
(restated)

UNDERWRITING INCOME:

   ross remiums ritten $  1  $  1 1 11  

   Movement in unearned remiums 1  11  1  

 1   1 1  

   Premiums ceded to reinsurers  1  

   Movement in deferred reinsurance remiums 1  1   1

          et remiums earned  1   1 1  

   Commission income  1   

          Total underwriting income  83,119,927  84,240,499 

UNDERWRITING EXPENSES:

   et claims incurred 11  1   1  

   Commission e ense  1 1   1  

   Cost of e cess of loss reinsurance  1   1  

   Premium ta  1 1   

          Total underwriting expenses  59,284,850  65,363,308 

          Net underwriting income  23,835,077  18,877,191 

OTHER EXPENSES:

   Salaries  ene ts and onuses    1   1  

   eneral and administrative e enses    1 111  

          Total other expenses  19,938,135  20,404,792 

T T CH C L R SULTS    1 1

M M T  PR S  F R L T T 1    

L T T  R C R 1  1    

U R L  L SS  STM T    

TH R C M  T 1  1 1    

PR F T F R TH  R  1 1 1  1 1 1 

TH R C MPR H S  C M  L SS :

   Unreali ed gain loss  on availa le for sale investments 1    

TH R C MPR H S  C M  L SS  F R TH  R    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR $  5,689,317 $  807,944 

TTR BUT BL  T :

RS F TH  P R T     

C TR LL  T R ST     

$  1  $   

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER

   COMMON SHARE 1 $  0.14 $  0.01 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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See notes to consolidated nancial statements

ttri uta le to o ners of the arent

Common
Shares

Preference
Shares

Contributed
Surplus

Treasury
Shares

General
Reserve

Revaluation
Reserve

Retained
Earnings

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 as 
previously reported  $363,055  $5,000,000  $14,639,446  $(256,316)  $4,000,000  $2,287,486  $19,535,923  $1,879,801  $47,449,395 

d ustment for Change in 
ccounting Polic  ote                          1 1   

Balance at January 1, 2011 
(restated)  363,055  5,000,000  14,639,446  (256,316)  4,000,000  2,287,486  16,917,607  1,794,252  44,745,530 

Pro t for the ear                          1     1 1 1 

ther com rehensive loss  
otes 1                               

Total com rehensive income 
loss                       1      

Changes in shareholders' interest 
in CF  ote 1                                

on controlling interest 
artici ation in CF 's rights 

o ering ote 1                                 

Shares issued ote 1        1                        

Preference shares dividend aid 
ote 1                               

ividends aid $  er 
common share  ote 1                          1 1      1 1

Balance at December 31,  
2011  (restated)  365,055  5,000,000  14,882,944  (256,316)  4,000,000  2,082,849  15,790,701  2,078,971  43,944,204 

Pro t for the ear                          1     1 1 1 

ther com rehensive income 
otes 1                                 

Total com rehensive income                        1     1  

Re urchase of common shares 
ote 1  1  1

Preference shares dividend aid 
ote 1                               

ividends aid $  er 
common share  ote 1              1    1

Balance at December 31, 
2012  $365,055  $5,000,000  $14,882,944  $(497,886)  $4,000,000  $2,630,725  $18,119,809  $2,733,249  $47,233,896 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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See notes to consolidated nancial statements

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Notes 2012 2011

(restated)

   Pro t for the ear $  1 1 1 $  1 1 1 

   d ustments for:

      e reciation 1  1 1  1 1  

      morti ation of intangi le assets 1  1   11  

      morti ation of remiums and discounts on onds 1  1   11  

      Share of net earnings of associate 1  1  111

      Realized gains on sales of investments 1    

      Unrealized loss on investment     

      ncome attri uted to non controlling interest   

      ain  loss on dis osal of ro ert  and e ui ment 1  1  1  

          Pro t rom operations  6,683,936  2,283,109 

      ecrease in trade accounts receiva le  net    1  

      ncrease  decrease in sundr  receiva les and re a ments  1   

      ecrease in deferred commission costs 1    1 1  

      ncrease  decrease in deferred reinsurance remiums 1  1 11  1  

      ecrease in rovision for litigation recovera le    1 1 1  

      ecrease in due from escro  agent     

      ecrease in accrued lia ilities   

      ecrease in trade accounts a a le  1  

      ncrease decrease  in unearned commission income 1    

      ncrease decrease  in unearned remiums 1  11   1

      ncrease decrease  in net un aid claims 11  1   1

      ncrease decrease  in rovision for litigation 1    

      ecrease in accrued interest on onds    1

          Net cash from (used in) operating activities  7,379,556  (448,076)

Continued

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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See notes to consolidated nancial statements

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Notes 2012 2011

(restated)

   Purchases of ro ert  and e ui ment 1 $  1 $  1

   Proceeds from sale and maturit  of investments    1  

   Purchase of investments   11 1

   Proceeds from dis osal of ro ert  and e ui ment  1  1 1 11  

   c uisition of customer relationshi s 1    

   ecrease increase  in term de osits maturing after ninet  da s    1

          Net cash (used in) from investing activities  (2,668,695)  508,437 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

   Preference shares dividend aid 1   

   Change in non controlling interest    1  

   Common shares dividend aid 1  1  1 1

   Re urchase of common shares 1  1   

   Re a ments of loan a a le   1

   Proceeds from issuance of common shares 1     

   uit  transactions et een non controlling interest 1     

          Net cash used in nancing activities  (2,218,320)  (1,455,448)

T CR S  CR S   C SH  C SH  U L TS  1   1

C SH  C SH  U L TS:

   B  F R  11   1 1  

   END OF YEAR $  14,146,580 $  11,654,039 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ARE COMPRISED OF:

   Cash $  1 1  $  11 1  

   Term de osits maturing ithin ninet  da s    1  

$  14,146,580 $  11,654,039 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:

nterest received $  1  $  1 1 1 

ividends received $  1  $  1  

nterest e ense aid $  1  $  1  

Concluded

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL
 

Bahamas First Holdings Limited (“BFH” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries are incorporated under the laws of the 
Commonwealth of The Bahamas, except BFH International Limited (“BFHIL”) and Cayman First Insurance Company 
Limited (“CFI”), which are incorporated under the laws (2009 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.  These consolidated 
financial statements include the accounts of BFH and its subsidiaries, which are hereinafter collectively referred to 
as the “Group”.  The primary activity of the Group is the carrying on of general insurance business (property and 
casualty) and health and group life insurance. The subsidiaries are as follows:
 
Registered insurers:
• Bahamas First General Insurance Company Limited (“BFG”)
• Cayman First Insurance Company Limited (“CFI”)
 
Registered insurance agencies:
• Nassau Underwriters Agency Insurance Brokers & Agents Ltd. (“NUA”)
• Moseley Burnside Insurance Agency Limited (“MBI”)
• Carib Insurance Brokers & Agents Limited (“CIA”)
• General Brokers & Agents Insurance Limited (“GBA”) (formerly General Brokers & Agents Limited)
 
Management company:
• Bahamas First Corporate Services Ltd. (“BFCS”)
 
BFCS provides administrative and corporate services to the Group and charges management fees to the various 
Group companies, which are eliminated on consolidation.
 
Claims servicing company:
• First Response Limited (“FRL”)
 
FRL provides motor claim roadside assistance and claim adjusting services to BFG.
 
Insurance holding company
• BFH International Limited (“BFHIL”)
 
All of the above subsidiaries are wholly-owned except for CFI.
 
BFHIL acquired a 75.24% equity interest in Sagicor General Insurance (Cayman) Ltd. (“SGI”) on June 17, 2010, with an 
effective date of January 1, 2010.  Sagicor General Insurance (Cayman) Ltd. was renamed Cayman First Insurance 
Company Limited on August 4, 2010.
 
At its Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting held in May 2011, CFI  passed a special resolution to increase its authorized 
share capital from $1,000,000, divided into 1,000,000 ordinary voting shares of $1 each, to $5,000,000, comprised of 
4,000,000 ordinary voting shares and 1,000,000 voting preference shares of $1 each.
 
In May 2011, the Board of Directors of CFI resolved to raise additional share capital by way of a rights issue to the 
Company’s existing shareholders. BFHIL participated in the rights issue and increased its equity holding in CFI to 
83.48%.
 
In July 2011, Allied Bahamas Insurance Company Limited (“ABI”), a previously wholly owned subsidiary, commenced 
preparatory steps for the process of voluntary liquidation. As at December 31, 2011, the key legal steps for voluntary 
liquidation have been executed and ABI is no longer under the control of the Group.
 
Effective January 1, 2012, the assets and liabilities of General Brokers & Agents Insurance Limited (“GBA”) were 
combined with NUA. NUA is now the operating company.
 
In December 2012, Moseley Burnside Insurance Agency Limited (“MBI”) commenced preparatory steps for the process 
of voluntary liquidation.
 
The registered office of the Group is located at 32 Collins Avenue, Nassau, Bahamas.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) AND INTERNATIONAL 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (IAS)
 
In the current year, there were several new and amended Standards and Interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (the 
“IFRIC”) of the IASB effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.

a. Standards and Interpretations early adopted

IAS 1 (Amended) Presentation of Financial Statements (as part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 
Cycle issued in May 2012)

 
The Company has applied the amendments to IAS 1, which requires an entity that changes accounting policies 
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification to present a statement of financial position 
as at the beginning of the preceding period (third statement of financial position). The amendments to IAS 1 clarify 
that an entity is required to present a third statement of financial position only when the retrospective application, 
restatement or reclassification has a material effect on the information in the third statement of financial position and 
the related notes are not required to accompany the third statement of financial position.
 
b. Standards and Interpretations effective but not affecting the reported results or financial position

IFRS 1 (Amended) Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates
IFRS 7 (Amended) Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets
IAS 12 (Amended) Deferred Tax-Recovery of Underlying Assets

c. Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective

IFRS 9 (Amended) Financial Instruments
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements
IAS 1 (Amended) Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
IAS 16 (Amended) Property, Plant and Equipment 
IAS 19 (Revised 2011) Employee Benefits
IAS 27 (Revised 2011) Separate Financial Statements 
IAS 28 (Revised 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
IAS 32 (Amended) Classification of Rights Issue
IAS 34 (Amended) Interim Financial Reporting
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

Management has not assessed whether the relevant adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods 
will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies:
 
a. Basis of preparation - These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis and 

under the historical cost convention, except for investments measured at fair value and land and buildings, which 
are revalued every three years.

The accounting policies are consistent with those used in the previous years.
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b. Basis of consolidation - Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by BFH. Control exists when the Company 
has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or 
convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized gains arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Company shares held by a subsidiary 
are classified as Treasury shares and are included in the consolidated statement of changes in equity at 
a value determined by management, based on the most recent transaction between unrelated parties, as 
these shares do not have a quoted market price.  No gain or loss will be recognized in the profit or loss on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.  Consideration paid or 
received will be recognized directly in equity.

c. Business combinations - Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 
the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the consideration transferred (measured at acquisition date 
fair value), and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business combination, 
the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition cost incurred is expensed.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the 
Group’s equity therein.  Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the 
original business combination and the non-controlling interest’s share of changes in equity since the date of 
the combination. Changes in the Company’s ownership in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control 
are accounted for as equity transactions, and are recognized in contributed surplus in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.

d. Investment in associates - An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant 
influence, but not control or joint control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee.

The results, and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting.  Under the equity method, investments in associates are initially 
carried at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Company’s share of 
the profit or loss of the associate after the date of acquisition.  Distributions received from the associate 
reduce the carrying amount of the investment.  Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary 
for changes in the Company’s proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s 
other comprehensive income.  The Company’s share of those changes is recognized in other comprehensive 
income of the Company.  

After application of the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment by 
comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying value.  Losses of associates in excess of the Group’s 
interest in those associates are not recognized. Where a company within the Group transacts with an 
associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant 
associate.  Losses may provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred in which case appropriate 
provision is made for impairment.
 

e. Financial instruments

Classification and measurement - On initial recognition a financial asset or liability is measured at its fair 
value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability.  
After initial recognition financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss; held-to-maturity investments; loans and receivables; or available-for-sale (“AFS”); and are measured at 
their fair values without any deduction for transaction costs, except for the following financial assets:

(i) loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate method;

(ii) investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.
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The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates the classification at each reporting 
date.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  Such liabilities, including derivatives 
that are liabilities, are measured at fair value.  Term deposits are classified as held-to-maturity financial 
instruments.  They have fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates, and the Group has the 
intent and ability to hold them to maturity.

Trade accounts receivable, sundry receivables and receivable from insurers are classified as loans and 
receivables and are carried at cost, which equates to amortized cost, less provision for bad debts.  Trade 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are financial liabilities, which are carried at cost.

Investments in Bahamas Government Registered Stock are designated as held-to-maturity and are carried 
at amortized cost.  Preference share and redeemable fixed rate note investments are classified as available-
for-sale and are carried at cost, as this is considered to be the fair value at the consolidated statement 
of financial position date.  Investment in fixed income debt securities and mutual funds are classified as 
available-for-sale and are carried at fair value.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of 
available-for-sale investments are recognized through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
until the investments are disposed of or are determined to be permanently impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is included in profit or loss for 
the period.  All other investments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  They 
are measured at fair value with reference to market prices, or, for non-listed companies, financial information 
on the company.
 
Recognition and derecognition - The Group recognizes/derecognizes a financial asset when it becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  The Group recognizes/derecognizes financial assets 
purchased or sold on the trade date.  The gain or loss on investments classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Investments held-to-maturity are recognized/derecognized on the day they are transferred to/by the Group.  
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished.  For financial assets and liabilities carried 
at amortized cost, a gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when 
it is derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

f. Trade accounts receivable - Trade accounts receivable is stated at cost less provision for bad debts.  The 
provision for bad debts is based on management’s evaluation of the accounts receivable portfolio.

g. Property and equipment - Property and equipment, other than freehold land and buildings, are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and amortization and impairment losses.

Expenditure incurred in the construction or replacement of property and equipment is capitalized.  Other 
subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
property and equipment.  All other expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as an expense as incurred.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives.  Land is not depreciated and expenditure incurred in the construction-in-progress 
is not depreciated until construction is completed.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

 Buildings      40 years
 Furniture and equipment    5 - 10 years
 Leasehold improvements and others   3 - 5 years
 Computer software     3 - 7 years
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Freehold land and buildings are stated at fair market value, based on independent professional appraisals, which 
are performed every three years.  A revaluation increment is recorded in other comprehensive income unless it  
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized as an expense and is transferred to retained 
earnings to the extent realized by complete or partial disposal of the related asset.

Any revaluation decrease is recognized as an expense unless it reverses a revaluation increase that was previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income.
 

h. Intangible assets and goodwill - On acquisition of an investment in an associate/subsidiary any goodwill arising  
(i.e. the excess of the cost of the investment over the investor’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities) is accounted for as follows:

(i) goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment for associate and is neither amortized nor 
individually tested for impairment. For subsidiaries, it is included as goodwill in the consolidated statement of 
financial position, and is tested for impairment at least annually.

(ii) other intangible assets identified on acquisition of a subsidiary are recognized only if future economic benefits 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Group, and if the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.  In 
addition, for purposes of recognition, the intangible asset must be separable from the business being acquired or 
must arise from contractual or legal rights.  On acquisition, the useful life of the asset is estimated and determined 
to be either finite or indefinite.

(iii) any excess of the investor’s share of the fair value of the net assets over the cost of the investment is included in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the investment is acquired.

After initial recognition, an intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortized using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.  An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortized, but tested for impairment 
at least annually.  An intangible asset shall be regarded as having an indefinite useful life when there is no foreseeable 
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows to the entity.  

An intangible asset shall be derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefit is expected from its 
use or disposal.  The gain or loss arising from the derecognition is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

i. Impairment - The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, including goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed at 
each consolidated statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If 
such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognized whenever the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss in respect of held-to-maturity assets is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized.  In respect of other assets, 
an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

j. Insurance contracts

Product classification - Insurance contracts are those that transfer significant insurance risk at the effective date of the 
contract. Insurance risk is transferred when the Group agrees to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain 
future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.  Any contracts not meeting the definition of an 
insurance contract under IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts are classified as investment contracts.  The main insurance 
contracts issued by the Group are as follows:
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Property and casualty insurance contracts: Property and casualty contracts are generally one year renewable 
contracts issued by the Group covering insurance risks over property, motor, marine, engineering and general 
accident.

Health and Group Life insurance contracts: Health and Group Life contracts are one year renewable contracts.  Health 
insurance contracts cover insureds for medical expenses incurred. Group Life insurance contracts protect the Group’s 
customers from the consequences of events (such as death or disability).  Guaranteed benefits paid on occurrence 
of the specified insurance event are fixed.

Reinsurance contracts - Contracts with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses are classified as 
reinsurance contracts held. Insurance contracts in which the contract holder is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) 
are included with insurance contracts.

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognized as reinsurance 
assets.  These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as longer term recoverables that are 
dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts. 

Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the 
reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognized as an expense 
over the period of the contract.

The Company assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an ongoing basis. If there is objective evidence 
that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its 
recoverable amount and recognizes that impairment loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Premiums - Premiums written are recognized as income over the periods covered by the related policies taking into 
consideration the exposure period to which they relate.  The adjustment to apportion the gross premiums written and 
ceded over the life of the policy is made through the movement in the unearned premiums.

Unearned premiums at year end represent the proportion of the premiums which relate to periods of insurance 
subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date.  This amount is calculated on a quarterly pro-
rated basis.

Premiums ceded - Premiums ceded to reinsurers are recognized as an expense over the periods covered by the 
related policies taking into consideration the exposure period to which they relate.

Deferred reinsurance premiums in the consolidated statement of financial position at year end represent the 
proportion of the premiums ceded which relate to periods of insurance subsequent to the consolidated statement of 
financial position date.  This amount is calculated on a quarterly pro-rated basis.

k. Unpaid claims and unpaid claims recoverable from reinsurers - The provision for unpaid claims, and the reinsurers’ 
share thereof, represents an estimate of the amount needed to provide for the ultimate expected cost of settling 
claims related to insured losses (both reported and unreported) that have occurred on or before each consolidated 
statement of financial position date.

The provision is periodically reviewed and evaluated in the light of emerging claims experience and changing 
circumstances.  Changes in estimate of the ultimate liability are included in net claims incurred in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

l. Policy acquisition costs

Deferred and unearned commissions - At year end, deferred and unearned commissions represent the proportion 
of the commission paid to agents and brokers and received from reinsurers which related to periods of insurance 
subsequent to the consolidated statement of financial position date.  These amounts are calculated on a quarterly 
pro-rated basis taking into consideration the exposure period to which they relate.
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Commission income and expense - Base commissions paid to agents and received from insurers and reinsurers are 
calculated based on gross premiums written and reinsured.  Base commissions paid and received are adjusted so that 
they are recognized over the period covered by the related policies taking into consideration the exposure period 
to which they relate.

Profit commissions received from reinsurers and non-group insurers, calculated based on past underwriting results, 
are received from other insurance companies for whom Group agents may act and from the Group’s reinsurers.  The 
agency profit commissions are recorded in the year in which Group agents receive notification of the commission 
and reinsurance profit and override commissions are recorded on an accruals basis.

m. Dividend and interest income - Dividend income is recorded when the dividend is declared.  Interest income is 
accounted for on an accrual basis.

n. Cash and cash equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and deposits with banks maturing 
within ninety days from the date of acquisition.

o. Borrowings - Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any difference between cost and 
redemption value being recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of 
borrowing using the effective rate method. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan and are capitalized, 
and included in sundry receivables and prepayments in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Capitalized 
fees are amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates, and are included in general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

p. Share capital - Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.  Share 
capital is comprised of common and preference shares. The preference shares are non-voting and redeemable at 
the option of the Company. When common shares are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including 
directly attributable costs, is recognized as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares 
and presented as a deduction in equity.

q. Foreign currency translation - The Group’s functional and presentation currency is the Bahamian dollar.  Assets and 
liabilities of the foreign subsidiary are translated from its functional currency into Bahamian dollars at the exchange 
rate in effect at the consolidated statement of financial position date for monetary assets and liabilities, and at 
historical rate in effect for non-monetary assets and liabilities.  With the exception of amortization expense, revenues 
and expenses are translated at the rate at transaction date, which is approximated by the weighted average 
rate prevailing during the year.  Amortization expense is translated at the same historic rate as the related asset.  
Adjustments resulting from the translation of the statement of financial position of the foreign operation are included 
in other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

r. Related parties - Related parties include:
• Key Management Personnel, close family members of Key Management Personnel, and entities which are 

controlled individually and/or jointly, or significantly influenced, or for which significant voting power is 
held, by Key Management Personnel or their close family members; or 

• Non-Key Management Personnel who have significant influence over the Group and their close family 
members.  Non-Key Management Personnel who control in excess of 10% of the outstanding common 
shares are considered to have significant influence over the Group.

Key Management Personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, being the Officers and Directors.
 
Close family members include the spouse of Key and Non-Key Management Personnel and the children and dependents 
of Key and Non-Key Management personnel or their spouse.

s. Pension benefits - The Group’s employees participate in a defined contribution plan. Under the plan, the Group 
contributes a fixed percentage of annual salary that is expensed in the year.  Once the contributions have been 
made, the Group has no further obligations.  The expensed amount is included in salaries, benefits and bonuses in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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t. Share–based payments - The Company has a share option plan for executives and on occasion a share subscription 
offer for non management employees. When the options are exercised the Company issues new shares and the 
proceeds received are credited to common shares and contributed surplus in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity.

u. Earnings per share - Earnings per share is computed by dividing the comprehensive income attributable to the 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.  The weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the year is the number of common shares outstanding at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted by the number of common shares repurchased or issued during the period multiplied 
by a time-weighting factor. The time-weighting factor is the number of days that the shares are outstanding as a 
proportion of the total number of days in the year.  There is no material difference between basic earnings per share 
and fully diluted earnings per share.

v. Leases - Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases.  All of the Group’s leases are operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

w. Taxation - Subsidiaries of the Group operating in The Bahamas are subject to tax on taxable gross premium income 
at the flat rate of 3% (2011: 3%).  There are no other taxes on corporate income or capital gains levied on the Group 
in any of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates.

x. Segment reporting - In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s business 
operating activities by geographic location (Bahamas & Cayman).  The Bahamas’ segment includes general insurance 
only and Cayman’s segment includes both general insurance and health and group life. General insurance comprises 
fire, motor, marine, engineering and general accident.  The health and life insurance segment includes group life and 
medical insurance.

y. Contingent liabilities - A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the 
Group or a present obligation that is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation.  A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability 
that cannot be recognized because it cannot be measured reliably.

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle that 
obligation at the reporting date and are discounted to present value.

Potential recoveries from third parties are recognized as a receivable when it is virtually certain that the recoveries 
will be received and the amount can be measured reliably.
 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities.  Estimates and 
judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

i. The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts

The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the Group’s most critical 
accounting estimate.  There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate of the 
amounts that the Group will ultimately pay to settle such claims.

The provision for unpaid claims is necessarily based on estimates due to the fact that ultimate disposition of claims 
incurred prior to the date of the statement of financial position, whether reported or not, is subject to the outcome of 
events that have not yet occurred.  Examples of these events include, inter alia, jury decisions, court interpretations, 
legislative changes, changes in the medical condition of claimants, changes in medical costs and the cost of automobile 
and property repair materials and labour rates.
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Any estimate of future costs is subject to the inherent uncertainties in predicting the course of future events. 
Consequently, the amounts recorded in respect of unpaid claims may change significantly in the short term.  
Management estimates and judgments are based on the Company’s claims experience, relevant circumstances and/
or advice from legal counsel. 

Short-tail claims, such as for automobile and property damage, are normally reported soon after the incident and are 
generally settled within one to three months after the claims event. Health claims are normally reported within three 
months of the event and are usually settled within days of being reported. 

Information for long-tail claims such as casualty claims for bodily injury, general third party liability, employers’ 
liability, workmen’s compensation and long term disability may not be readily available. The provision for the long-
tail claims is continually evaluated by management and is based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The Group does not establish provisions for catastrophes (such as natural disasters) in advance of the occurrence 
of such events. These events can cause significant volatility in the Group’s level of incurred losses and the provision 
for unpaid claims. 

The impact of critical accounting estimates and judgments on the ultimate liability arising from claims made under 
insurance contracts is partially mitigated through relief arising from reinsurance contracts held. 

The carrying value at the consolidated statement of financial position date of gross claims reported and loss adjustment 
expenses and claims incurred but not reported was $40,448,568  (2011: $43,618,032).   The amount of reinsurance 
recoveries estimated at the consolidated statement of financial position date is $23,543,113 (2011: $27,374,217).

Refer to Note 11 for further information on the provision for unpaid claims.

ii. Impairment  of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill or intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use or fair value 
less costs to sell of the cash-generating unit or group of units to which the value has been allocated.  The value in use 
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit(s) 
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value, both of which are material sources of uncertainty.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash generating unit(s) between 
knowledgeable willing parties, less the costs of disposal.  The carrying value at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date for intangible assets and goodwill was $11,964,539 (2011: $11,378,112).

iii. Provision for bad debts

As described in Note 3f, provision for bad debts is based on management’s evaluation of the respective portfolios.  
This evaluation is based on the aged analysis of the trade accounts receivable.  Trade accounts receivable, which 
is shown net of provision for bad debts, is comprised of (1) amounts receivable from insurance agents that have 
signed agency agreements with the Group insurers (“insurer trade receivables”); (2) clients of the Group’s agency 
subsidiaries (“policyholders’ receivables”); and (3) amounts receivable from reinsurers based on the benefits the 
Group is entitled to under its reinsurance contracts held (“reinsurers’ receivables”).  

Provisions are recorded for policyholders’ receivables as follows: 

   Over 6 months   10% provision
   Over 9 months   20% provision
   Over 1 year   100% provision

The carrying value at the consolidated statement of financial position date for trade accounts receivable, net was 
$26,103,831 (2011: $26,980,097).

iv. Provision for litigation

As disclosed in Note 12, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Court”) issued a ruling on March 14, 2011 against 
CFI in relation to the undertaking as to damages pursuant to the Mareva Injunction. CFI subsequently, on October 14, 
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2011, reached a settlement agreement with the various third parties for a lower settlement sum. The agreed amounts 
have been paid in full.

In the same judgment, the Court issued a ruling in favour of CFI in relation to the counterclaims related to abuse of 
process, and no damages were awarded to the third parties. Subsequent to the ruling, one of the third parties filed 
notice of appeal on March 28, 2011. The Court of Appeal heard the matter in November 2011 and issued its ruling on 
April 5, 2012 dismissing the appeal against the Court’s ruling. Following the Court of Appeal ruling, the third party 
appealed further to the Privy Council. The Privy Council heard the matter in January 2013, but is yet to issue its ruling.

On December 9, 2011, the Court issued a ruling on the issue of costs relating to both the counterclaims related to 
abuse of process and the Mareva Injunction undertaking. The Court ordered that CFI must pay 85% of the costs 
and disbursements of the consolidated trial to the third parties awarded damages under the Mareva Injunction 
undertaking, on the standard basis, whilst all of the third parties, jointly and severally, must pay 15% of the costs 
and disbursements of CFI, on a standard basis.  CFI has subsequently, on January 30, 2013, reached a settlement 
agreement with the various third parties and the agreed amounts have been paid in full.

Refer to Note 12 for further information related to this provision.

v. Depreciation

Depreciation is based on management estimates of the future useful life of property and equipment.  Estimates may 
change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions and other factors and may 
result in changes in the estimated useful life and in the depreciation charges.  The Company reviews the future useful 
life of property and equipment periodically, taking into consideration the factors mentioned above and all other 
important factors.  In case of significant changes in the estimated useful lives, depreciation charges are adjusted 
prospectively.

vi. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of listed equities are based on current bid prices reported on recognized exchanges.  The fair value of 
debt securities is based on either current bid prices reported on recognized exchanges or pricing data provided by 
internationally recognized pricing services.  Mutual funds are carried at fair value based on the net asset value per 
share provided by the administrator of the fund.  If prices are not readily available, the fair value is estimated using 
either dealer quotes or pricing models or discounted cash flow models or management’s estimate of amounts that 
could be realized under current market conditions and which are based on observable market-based inputs when 
available.

Where fair value has been determined using data provided by a recognized pricing service, dealer quotes, pricing 
models or net asset value per share, the Group has obtained an understanding of the methods, models and inputs 
used in pricing and has controls in place that management considers sufficient to validate that prices represent fair 
value.

For fair value of unlisted shares, fair value is estimated using assumptions that may not be supported by observable 
market prices or rates.  In determining the fair value, the following information was used: the cost, cost less impairment 
and the book value available at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

Investments for which observable market prices do not exist are reported at fair value as determined in good 
faith by management.  Fair value is based on the best information available and is determined by reference to 
information including, but not limited to the following: projected revenues, net earnings, earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), book value, relevant public or private transactions, valuations 
for publicly traded companies, and/or other measures, and consideration of any other pertinent information 
including the types of securities held and restrictions on disposition.  The amount determined to be fair value may 
incorporate management’s own assumptions (including appropriate risk adjustments for non-performance and lack 
of marketability).

For certain financial instruments carried at cost, the carrying amounts approximate to fair value due to the short 
term nature of these instruments.  Such instruments include, premiums receivable, reinsurance balances receivable, 
other receivables, reinsurance balances payable and other short term liabilities.

Refer to Notes 5 and 7 for further information on the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT

 As an insurance company, the Group is concerned about the risks inherent in its business activities (insurance risk) 
and the risks associated with the management of the financial assets and liabilities (financial risk) which support 
the operational activities.  The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 
of the Group’s risk management structure.  The Group has established the Technical Review and Risk Compliance 
Committee, and the Finance and Investment Committee to ensure that management has a system which details the 
risk policies, procedures, measurement, reporting and compliance.  The Group’s Internal Audit Department reviews 
the risk management policies and processes and reports their findings directly to the Audit Committee.  The Audit 
Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks that face the Group.  The committees 
report regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities.

The Group has exposures to risks that may develop in each class of business within each operating segment and 
could have a material impact upon the Group’s financial position.

INSURANCE RISK
 

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of 
the amount of the resulting claim.  By the very nature of an insurance contract, the risk is random and therefore 
unpredictable. Risk factors that affect insurance are many and include the lack of risk diversification in terms of type 
and amount of risk, geographical location and type of industry covered.  The Group insures the risks of entities within 
The Bahamas and the Cayman Islands.  There is a concentration of insurance risk in those territories.

Below is a discussion of insurance risks specific to the lines of coverage provided by the operating segments within 
the Group.
 
Property and casualty insurance risks
 
Property risks are comprised of physical damage to property.  Property policies are underwritten by reference to the 
commercial replacement value of the properties and content insured. Casualty risks are comprised of personal injury 
from motor claims, public liability, employers’ liability, workmen’s compensation and personal liability coverage.

For the Group’s property and casualty insurance contracts, significant risk exposure arises from low frequency, high 
severity events such as hurricanes.  Single events, such as flooding and fires may also generate significant claims.
Claim payment limits are always included to cap the amount payable on occurrence of the insured event.  The costs 
of rebuilding properties, replacement or indemnity for contents are the key factors that influence the level of claims 
under these policies.

The frequency and severity of claims can be affected by several factors with the single most significant event 
being a catastrophic event.  The Group manages this risk through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance 
arrangements and proactive claims handling.  Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection 
criteria.  The Group actively manages and pursues early settlement of all claims to reduce its exposure to unpredictable 
developments.  It has a dedicated in-house claims department and uses third party loss adjusters as necessary.  The 
Company will, where necessary, appoint lawyers to act on the Company’s behalf in respect of serious bodily injury 
claims thus ensuring settlements and avoiding claims development.

The Group follows the policy of underwriting and reinsuring contracts of insurance, which generally limit the liability 
for any one risk.  In addition, catastrophe reinsurance is obtained to limit liability to a maximum of 10% of the Group’s 
capital and reserves in the event of a series of claims arising out of a single occurrence.

The Group is exposed to contractual disputes with its reinsurers and the possibility of default by its insurers.  The 
Group is also exposed to the credit risk assumed in fronting arrangements and to potential reinsurance constraints.  
The Group’s strategy is to select reinsurers with the best combination of financial strength, price and capacity. In the 
event that the Group’s reinsurers were unable to meet their obligations under the reinsurance programs in place, the 
Group would still be obligated to pay all claims made under the insurance policies it issues, but would only receive 
reimbursement to the extent that the reinsurers could meet their above mentioned obligations.

Management does not anticipate that there will be any issues with the collection of amounts due from reinsurers as 
they become due, and is not aware of any disputes with reinsurers, overdue amounts or any specific credit issues.
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Health and group life insurance risks
 
The most significant factors that could increase the overall frequency of claims relating to health and group life 
insurance contracts are epidemics or widespread changes in lifestyle, resulting in earlier or more claims than expected.
The reinsurance program used by the Group is reviewed and approved by the Technical Review and Risk Compliance 
Committee on an annual basis.

FINANCIAL RISK
 
The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and liabilities.  The components of financial risk that 
have an impact on the Group are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.  Market risk exposure result from adverse 
movements in market rates and prices and as a result the Group is exposed to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk 
and price risk. Financial risk is a significant risk for the Group’s operations.  The risk framework combines investment 
policies, limits, stress tests and regular monitoring to control the nature and level of financial risk and to ensure 
adherence to Group and regulatory policies and guidelines.
 
The following table reconciles financial assets and financial liabilities to the Group’s statement of financial position:

2012 2011
(restated)

Financial assets:

Cash and term de osits $  1  $  1  

nvestments:

   Held to maturit     

   t fair value through ro t and loss  1   1  

   vaila le for sale    1  

Loans and receiva les:

   Trade accounts receiva le  net  1 1   

   ther receiva les  1   1  

Total nancial assets  85,492,009  82,463,416 

on nancial assets   1 

Total assets $  175,737,593 $  175,805,887 

Financial liabilities:

Pa a les at amortized cost:

   Trade accounts a a le  accrued e enses and other lia ilities $  1  $   

Bond and loan a a les  1   1  

Total nancial liabilities  24,259,513  27,535,952 

on nancial lia ilities  1 1   1 1 

Total liabilities $  128,503,697 $  131,861,683 

  e cludes re aid e enses of $  11: $ 1
 



36BAHAMAS FIRST HOLDINGS
2012 ANNUAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CREDIT RISK
 
 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 

party to incur a financial loss.  Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are in the investment portfolios, 
reinsurance receivables, premiums receivable, and other receivables.

The Group’s investment policy permits the Group to invest in fixed income securities, equity securities, private 
placements of financial institutions, term deposits, and to limit exposure to any one issuer.  The Group’s deposits are 
placed with well-known high quality financial institutions.  Policies and guidelines are in place to limit the exposure 
faced by the Group.

The Group is exposed to credit risk with respect to the amounts recoverable from its reinsurers.  The Group’s liability 
as primary insurer is not discharged if a reinsurer defaults on the obligation to pay.  The Technical Review and 
Risk Compliance Committee ensures that management assesses the creditworthiness of all reinsurers by reviewing 
credit ratings as determined by independent rating agencies and other publicly available financial information.  The 
concentration of credit risk is also monitored to minimize the Group’s exposure to significant losses from reinsurer 
insolvency.

The following assets of the Group are exposed to credit risk:

2012 2011

Held to maturit :

   Bahamas overnment Registered Stoc s $   $   

vaila le for sale securities:

   Fi ed income de t securities  1   1  

   Mutual funds  1   1  

   Preference shares     

Loans and receiva les:

   Trade accounts receiva le    1 

   ther receiva les  1   1  

Cash and term de osits  1   1  

Total $  74,857,020 $  71,589,633 
 
 Fixed income debt securities are analyzed in the table below using Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) ratings (or an equivalent 

rating when not available from S&P).

2012 2011

$  1  $  1  

 1    

   1  

BBB  1    

ot rated  1   1  

Total debt securities $  23,258,248 $  20,514,853 
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Financial assets exposed to credit risk that are neither past due nor impaired, past due but not impaired and those 
that are impaired are analyzed in the table below:

Neither past due 
nor

impaired

Past due 
but not 

impaired Impaired Total

At December 31, 2012

Held to maturit  de t securities $   $    $     $   

vaila le for sale de t securities         

Loans and receiva les:

   Trade accounts receiva le  1     1 1    

   ther receiva les  1       1  

Cash and term de osits  1       1  

Total assets exposed to credit risk $  64,565,315 $  8,859,997 $  1,431,708 $  74,857,020 
 

Neither past due 
nor

impaired

Past due 
but not

impaired Impaired Total

At December 31, 2011 

Held to maturit  de t securities $   $     $     $   

vaila le for sale de t securities  1       1  

Loans and receiva les:

   Trade accounts receiva le  1 1    1   1 

   ther receiva les  1 1 11       1  

Cash and term de osits  1       1  

Total assets exposed to credit risk $  61,039,857 $  8,587,002 $  1,962,774 $  71,589,633 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets 
disclosed above.  The Group does not hold collateral as security.

 INTEREST RATE RISK
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 

rates.  This is primarily a concern with fixed and fluctuating financial instruments, which the Group intends to hold for 
the long term.

 
The Group’s investment in fixed income debt securities, money market fund, cash and cash equivalents, and its loan 
and bonds payables are all subject to interest rate risk.  Fluctuations in interest rates impact the level of gains and 
losses on the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments.  The coupon rates associated with the fixed income debt 
securities held by the Group range from 2.60% to 8.50% (2011: 3.25% to 7.00%).  



38BAHAMAS FIRST HOLDINGS
2012 ANNUAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The underlying debt securities of the money market fund may be affected by changes in interest rates. The Group’s 
loan payable is at a rate of 1.50% above U.S. prime rate (effective rate: 4.75%).  Interest on the Series I and II bonds 
payable are at B$ prime rate plus 1.75% and 2.00%, respectively (effective rate 6.50% and 6.75%, respectively).

 
The Group’s investment income will move with interest rates over the medium to long term with short-term interest 
rate fluctuations creating unrealized gain or losses in other comprehensive income.

The average interest yields of investments held during the year are as follows:
 

Debt securities      6.2% (2011: 5.2%)
Cash, term deposits and money market funds  1.2% (2011: 1.6%)

 
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

 
  Foreign currency risk relates to the Group operating in different currencies and converting non-Bahamian earnings 

at different foreign exchange levels when adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates occur.  The Group is 
not directly exposed to foreign currency risk, as investments are denominated in Bahamian dollars and US dollars. 
The Group’s investments in The Bahamas are denominated in Bahamian dollars, which is fixed to the US dollar at the 
following rate: B$1 = US$1.  CFI has investments denominated in US dollars. The Cayman Island dollar is fixed to the 
US$ at the following rate: CI$1 = US$1.20, at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.  The Group 
is indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk, where it holds investments in mutual funds.  The underlying investments 
of the mutual funds could be denominated in foreign currencies, resulting in exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates.

 
  PRICE RISK
 
 The Group is subject to price risk on its equity securities due to changes in market values.  One of the primary 

objectives of the Group’s risk management policy is to mitigate potential adverse impacts of market movements.  
  

LIQUIDITY RISK
 
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may have difficulty liquidating its positions due to existing or unforeseen 

market constraints to meet obligations associated with financial instruments.  In respect of catastrophic events, 
the Group is exposed to liquidity risk associated with the timing differences between cash flows and expected 
reinsurance recoveries to meet its insurance liability obligation.  Most of the Group’s investments are either in a 
market that is not highly active or do not have a market and therefore may not be readily realizable.  As a result, the 
Group may not be able to quickly liquidate its investments at an amount close to their fair value in order to meet 
liquidity requirements.  The Group mitigates this risk by maintaining significant holdings in cash and term deposits 
and also ensures that there are set guidelines for asset allocations, portfolio limit structures and maturity profiles of 
investments.

 
The following tables indicate the timing of undiscounted cash flows arising from financial liabilities as at  
December 31, 2012 and 2011:

Cash o s

2012 Financial liabilities Total < 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years

ccrued e enses and other lia ilities $  1 1  $  1  $  1  $   

Bonds a a le  1       1  

Loan a a le      1   1  

Trade accounts a a le  1   1      

Total undiscounted cash o s $  24,259,513 $  4,930,114 $  2,120,291 $  17,209,108 
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Cash o s

2011 Financial liabilities Total < 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years

ccrued e enses and other lia ilities $   $   $  1  $  

Bonds a a le  1       1  

Loan a a le  1        

Trade accounts a a le  1   1      

Total undiscounted cash o s $  27,535,952 $  7,711,761 $  2,580,597 $  17,243,594 
 

 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
 
  The Group predominantly funds its net insurance liabilities through its cash and term deposits generated in the 

normal course of its operations.  In the event of a catastrophe, the net insurance liabilities may be required to be 
funded through the Group’s portfolio of investments.

 
Insurance liabilities are calculated using historical claims data to determine an estimate of the amount needed to 
provide for the ultimate expected cost of settling claims related to insured losses (both reported and unreported) 
that have occurred at the date of the statement of financial position.  In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made 
as projections are based on assumptions implicit in the historic claims development on which the projections are 
based.  As such, the sensitivity of the insurance liabilities is based on the financial impact of changes to the reported 
loss ratio.  The provision for long tail claims is determined by using the incurred loss method and loss ratio method.  
The loss development factors used are based on the Group’s experience.

 
The sensitivity analysis below is based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.  
The analyses assume that there is no correlation between the assumptions.

 

Sensitivity factor  Description of sensitivity factor applied

nterest rates  cash and cash e uivalents The im act of a change in mar et interest rates  1  

Under riting e enses The im act of a change in under riting e enses   

Loss ratio The im act of a change in loss ratio   

December 31, 2012 Interest rates Under riting expenses Loss ratio

In $ +1% -1% +5% -5% +5% -5%

m act on ro t   1   1  1  1     

m act on e uit     1  1     

 

December 31, 2011 (restated) Interest rates Under riting expenses Loss ratio

In $ +1% -1% +5% -5% +5% -5%

m act on ro t  1   1  1 11  1 11  1  1 

m act on e uit  1   1  1 11  1 11  1  1 
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 Price risk arises primarily from changes in the value of equity investments that may be bought and sold.  The 
Group is sensitive to price risk on its fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale equity securities.  These 
securities are managed according to the benchmarks as specified in the Group’s statement of investment policy 
and guidelines.  The effect of a 10% increase (2011: 10%) and a 10% decrease (2011: 10%) in equity prices at the date 
of the statement of financial position are set out below:

At December 31, 2012 Carrying Value

E ect on pro t 
and equity

+10%

E ect on pro t 
and equity

-10%

Listed on stoc  e changes  mar ets $  1  $  1  $  1

Listed  unlisted mutual funds  1   1   1

Total $  13,719,495 $  1,371,950 $  (1,371,950)

At December 31, 2011

Listed on stoc  e changes  mar ets $  1  $  1  $  1

Listed  unlisted mutual funds  1   1   1

Total $  14,276,830 $  1,427,683 $  (1,427,683)
  
 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
 
   The Group’s objectives when managing Capital are:
 

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern through prudent and sustainable growth, so that 
it can continue to maximize returns for shareholders;

• To ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating (minimum AM Best rating of A- Excellent) and healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business objectives; and

• To comply with the regulatory capital requirements in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
 

 The Group actively monitors its capital requirements and is in compliance with all relevant laws, rules and regulations.

6. TERM DEPOSITS AND BANK OVERDRAFT
 
  Term deposits are denominated in Bahamian and United States dollars with an average interest rate of 1.42%  

(2011: 3.17%) per annum at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

2012 2011

Term de osits maturing ithin ninet  da s $   $  1  

Term de osits maturing after ninet  da s  1   1 1 

Total $  6,841,478 $  4,222,503 
  
 The Group also has a bank overdraft facility up to $3,000,000 (2010: $3,000,000), which bears interest at the B$ 

Prime Rate (“Prime”) plus 1.5% per annum.  The overdraft facility is secured by the term deposits.
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7. INVESTMENTS

2012 2011

Held to maturit :

   Bahamas overnment Registered Stoc s  at amortized cost

   Unrestricted $   $   

   Restricted  1   1  

          Total held to maturit     

t fair value through ro t or loss:

   Bahamas nternational Securities change Limited B S

   1  11: 1  common shares  at cost $1

       11: $1  less im airment     

   Common ealth Ban  Limited

      1  11: 1  common shares

      Cost $  11: $  1 1 1   1 1  

          Total at fair value through ro t or loss  1   1  

vaila le for sale:

   Fi ed income de t securities  at fair value   

   amortised cost $1 1  11: $1  1   1  

   Mutual funds  at fair value

   cost less im airment $1 1  11: $1 1  1   1  

   Preference shares     

           Total availa le for sale    1  

           Total investments $  39,977,743 $  37,791,683 

 Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortized cost based on the effective interest rate method.  These 
investments are variable interest rate instruments tied to Prime, with interest rates ranging from 4.77% to 4.94% per 
annum (2011: 4.77% to 4.94%) and scheduled maturities between 2015 and 2030 (2011: 2015 and 2030) at the date of 
the consolidated statement of financial position.  The investments are carried at amortized cost as the Group has the 
intent and ability to hold them to maturity. In 2011, in accordance with the Insurance Act 2005 (Amended 2009), and 
regulations 61 and 62 of the Insurance (General) Regulations 2010, the Group established a Trust Account (the “BFG 
Trust”) in which $1,000,000 of the Bahamas Government Registered Stocks have been placed in Trust. This amount 
is restricted for regulatory purposes but the interest income accrues to the Group.

 
The investment in Commonwealth Bank Limited (the “Bank”) was valued at $6.58 (2011: $7.00) per share, which is 
the listed price at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position on the Bahamas International Stock 
Exchange (“BISX”).  As a result, the Group recorded an unrealized loss of $769,860.
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The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale fixed income debt securities held at December 31, 2012 by 
contractual maturities are shown below.  Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers 
may have the right to repay obligations early without repayment penalties.  Interest rates range from 2.60% to 8.50% 
(2011: 3.25% to 7.00%) per annum at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

2012 2011

Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value

vaila le for sale:

ue in less than 1 ear $  1  $  1  $   $  1 

ue from 1 through  ears      1    

ue after  ears    11     1 1  

Total $  18,042,314 $  18,799,248 $  15,780,370 $  16,055,853 
 

The Group’s available-for-sale fixed income debt securities are comprised of the following:

2012 2011

overnment de t securities $  1  $  1 1  

Cor orate de t securities  1  1 

ther de t securities     

Total $  18,799,248 $  16,055,853 
 

The geographical locations of the Group’s portfolio of investments are as follows:

2012 % 2011 %

Bahamas $  1  $  1  

US  11   11  1

uro e  1   1  

ustralia  1 1   1  1

sia  1    1

Latin merica     

Ca man    1 1  1

Total $  39,977,743 100% $  37,791,683 100%
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Reconciliations of movements in the balance of investments and loans and receivable are provided below:

Held-to-
maturity

Fair value 
through pro t 

or loss
Available-

for-sale Total

At December 31, 2010 $  4,459,000 $  13,886,557 $  19,712,333 $  38,057,890 

Cost of investments urchased      11 1   11 1  

Proceeds from sales and maturities    1  1 1  1

mortization of remiums  discounts on onds      11  11

et decrease in fair value of investments       

Realized gains losses  on sales of investments    1  1    

At December 31, 2011 $  4,459,000 $  12,836,557 $  20,496,126 $  37,791,683 

Cost of investments urchased         

Proceeds from sales and maturities       

mortization of remiums  discounts on onds      1  1

et change in fair value of investments       1

At December 31, 2012 $  4,459,000 $  12,066,697 $  23,452,046 $  39,977,743 

  Management believes that there is no objective evidence of impairment of its investment portfolio as there has not 
been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of any of its securities.

 
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

 
In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, fair value measurements are classified as Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 
and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

In addition to the measurement hierarchy, financial instruments which have significant unobservable inputs (classified 
as Level 3) require the disclosures on the transfers into and out of Level 3, a reconciliation of the opening and closing 
balances, total gains and losses for the period split between those recognized in other comprehensive income, 
purchases, sales, issues and settlements, and sensitivity analysis of reasonably possible changes in assumptions.  
Disclosure is also required of the movements between different levels of the fair value hierarchy and the reason for 
those movements.
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The following table presents the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at December 31, 2012, by the level in the 
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets designated at fair value through ro t or loss:

   uit  securities $  1  $   $   $  1  

Total  12,066,697      12,066,697 

vaila le for sale nancial assets:

   Fi ed income de t securities    1     1  

   Mutual funds    1   1 1   1  

   Preference shares         

Total      1 1    

Total assets measured at fair value $  12,066,697 $  23,324,036 $  128,010 $  35,518,743 

There were no transfers between the various levels during the year. 
 
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value at December 31, 2011, by the level in the 
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized:

2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets designated at fair value through ro t  or loss:

   uit  securities $  1  $   $   $ 1  

Total  12,836,557      12,836,557 

vaila le for sale nancial assets:

   Fi ed income de t securities    1     1  

   Mutual funds    1   11 1   1  

   Preference shares         

Total    1   1 1   1  

Total assets measured at fair value $  $12,836,557 $  20,357,912 $  138,214 $  33,332,683 

There were no transfers between the various levels during 2011.  
 
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments during the year:

2012 2011

Balance at anuar  1 $  1 1  $  1  

ecrease  increase in fair value  1  1  

Balance at December 31 $  128,010 $  138,214 
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8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
 
  The Company holds a 20% (2011: 20%) equity interest in Star General Agency (Grand Bahama) Limited  

(“Star General”).

2012 2011

Balance at anuar  1 $   $   

Share of net earnings for the ear  1   111 

Balance at December 31 $  463,790 $  372,880 

Share of associates unaudited statement of nancial osition:

Total assets $  1  $  1  

Total lia ilities  1  

et assets     

ood ill  1   1  

Carrying value of investment in associate $  463,790 $  372,880 

Share of associate's unaudited statement of com rehensive income:

Revenues $  447,050 $  668,247 

Net income $  90,910 $  67,111 
  
 Investment in associate includes $108,000 (2011: $108,000) in goodwill.  At December 31, 2012 the recoverable 

amount exceeded the carrying amount of the investment in associate, accordingly no provision for impairment was 
considered necessary.

 
9. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
 
   Trade accounts receivable, which is shown net of provision for bad debts, is comprised of:
 

• amounts receivable from insurance agents that have signed agency agreements with the Group insurers 
(“insurer trade receivables”),

• clients of the Group’s agency subsidiaries (“policyholders’ receivables”), and
• amounts receivable from reinsurers based on the benefits the Group is entitled to under its reinsurance 

contracts held (“reinsurers’ receivables”).

2012 2011

nsurer trade receiva les $  1  $  1  

Polic holders' receiva les  11 1   1  

Reinsurers' receiva les  1  1  

   1 

Provision for ad de ts:

Balance at anuar  1  1   1  

ecrease  increase in rovision for the ear    

Bad de ts ritten o  for the ear  1  11 1

Balance at ecem er 1  1 1   1  

Trade accounts receivable, net $  26,103,831 $  26,980,097 
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geing of trade accounts receiva le  net is as follo s: 2012 2011

Less than  months $ 1  $  1 1 

 months  1   11 

 months  1 ear    1  

ver 1 ear  11  1 

$  26,103,831 $  26,980,097 

10. DEFERRED/UNEARNED PREMIUMS AND COMMISSION COSTS

Insurance Assets Insurance Liabilities

Deferred
Reinsurance

Premiums

Deferred
Commission

Costs

Deferred
Reinsurance

Cost
Unearned
Premiums

Unearned
Commission

Income Net

Balance at January 1, 2011 as 
previously reported

$  38,070,944 $  5,433,185 $  2,703,865 $  (53,895,111) $  (8,979,515) $  (16,666,632)

d ustment for Change in ccounting 
Polic  ote 

          

Balance at January 1, 2011 (restated)  38,070,944  5,433,185  -    (53,895,111)  (8,979,515)  (19,370,497)

Movement during the ear $  1 $  1 1 $     $  1  $   $  1  

Balance at December 31, 2011 
(restated)

 36,206,160  5,217,081  -    (51,616,194)  (8,196,216)  (18,389,169)

Portfolio transfer                     

Movement during the ear $  1  $  $     $  11 $  $  

Balance at December 31, 2012  37,717,928  4,671,507  -  (53,729,518)  (8,605,973)  (19,946,056)

11. UNPAID CLAIMS AND CLAIMS INCURRED 

Gross Reinsurance Net

Unpaid claims at December 31, 2010 $  34,025,371 $  (17,022,413) $  17,002,958 

Claims incurred     1  

Claims aid     

Unpaid claims at December 31, 2011 $  43,618,032 $  (27,374,217) $  16,243,815 

Portfolio transfer     

Claims incurred  1 1

Claims aid   1   1

Unpaid claims at December 31, 2012 $  40,448,568 $  (23,543,113) $  16,905,455 
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 The table below shows the development of claims over a period of time on a gross basis, and also shows the 
cumulative incurred claims, including both notified and IBNR claims for each successive accident year.

P&C 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total

ross claims 
incurred at end of re orting ear $  1 1  $  1 1  $  1  $  1  $   

ne ear later  1   1 1 1      

T o ears later  1   1 1   1 1  

Three ears later  1   1 1  

Four ears later  1  

Total incurred to date  1   1 1   1 1      

Cumulative a ments to date  1  1 1  1   1

Lia ilit  included in the consolidated 
statement of nancial osition  1   1     1   1 1 1  $   

Reserves for rior ears  1  

Total unpaid claims  for P&C business including amount recoverable from reinsurer $  37,988,568 

H&L 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total

ross claims 
incurred at end of re orting ear $   $  1  $  1 1  $  1  $  1 1  $   

ne ear later  1   1   1  

Total incurred to date    1   1   1   1 1   1  

Cumulative a ments to date    1  1  1  1 1  1

Lia ilit  included in the consolidated 
statement of nancial osition         

Reserves for rior ears  1  

Total unpaid claims for H&L business including amount recoverable from reinsurer $  2,460,000 

Total unpaid claims including amount recoverable from reinsurer 
in the consolidated statement of nancial position $  40,448,568 

12. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION & PROVISION FOR LITIGATION RECOVERABLE

 Hurricane Ivan claims

Effective November 30, 2005, Cayman National Corporation (“CNC”) sold a controlling 51% stake in CFI to Sagicor 
Life of the Cayman Islands Limited (“SLCI”).  On October 22, 2007, SLCI purchased an additional 24.24% interest in 
CFI from CNC. Under the terms of the initial Sales Agreement, CNC provided certain warranties to SLCI, including 
claims in relation to Hurricane Ivan claims not finally settled at the date of the agreement.

In February 2006, CFI filed suit against certain third parties to recover sums paid for work done in respect of 
Hurricane Ivan, specifically the “Windsor Village litigation”.  The understanding of the shareholders (SLCI and CNC) 
based on discussions held, was that CNC would be entitled to retain any benefits realized from the Windsor Village 
litigation, and be responsible for all liabilities that might arise therefrom.  CFI and SLCI’s position was also that CNC 
was responsible for the conduct of the litigation.
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In  December 2008, CFI withdrew its claims against the third parties, and the third parties lodged 
counterclaims related to abuse of process against CFI. Additionally, having discharged an injunction (“the 
Mareva Injunction”) obtained in the course of the initial litigation, CFI became liable under an undertaking as 
to damages to compensate the third parties for any loss caused by the injunction.

As noted in note 1, on June 17, 2010, SLCI executed a Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) for the sale of its 
75.24% holding in CFI to BFHIL, with an effective date of January 1, 2010.  Based on the terms of the SPA, SLCI 
agreed to indemnify BFHIL in relation to 75.24% of all costs, claims and demands directly arising out of or in 
connection with the Windsor Village litigation and certain other specified potential liabilities. SLCI exposure 
in relation to the above liabilities is unlimited.  Additionally, Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited (“SLJ” -SLCI’s parent 
company) has guaranteed the performance of SLCI’s obligations (including in relation to the Windsor Village 
litigation) as stipulated in the SPA or any other agreement entered into in connection with the acquisition to 
the extent of US$10,000,000.  To secure SLCI’s obligation under the SPA, US$10,000,000 was placed into 
an escrow account pursuant to the terms of an Escrow Agreement dated May 6, 2010 among SLJ, BFHI and 
Cayman National Trust Co. Ltd. (“Escrow Agent”).  

On March 14, 2011, the Court issued a judgment ruling in favour of CFI in relation to the counterclaims related 
to abuse of process, and no damages were awarded to the third parties.  

Subsequent to the ruling, one of the third parties filed notice of appeal on March 28, 2011 in relation to the 
counterclaims related to abuse of process. The Court of Appeal heard the matter in November 2011 and issued 
its ruling on April 5, 2012 dismissing the appeal against the Court’s ruling with regard to the abuse of process 
claims, and awarding costs in favour of CFI. Following the Court of Appeal ruling, the third party appealed 
further to the Privy Council. The Privy Council heard the matter in January 2013, but is yet to issue its ruling.  

Management’s view, supported by legal advice, is that the appeal to the Privy Council is likely to be unsuccessful 
as the initial judgment, which was upheld by the Court of Appeal, was clear and in accordance with decided 
authorities relating to claims for abuse of process and malicious prosecution. 

In the March 14, 2011 judgment, in relation to the undertaking as to damages pursuant to the Mareva Injunction, 
the Court awarded damages to the various third parties totalling $8,613,677, plus interest. Based on advice 
from legal counsel, management estimated the interest payable on the damages awarded would be $1,161,071.  
Consequently, a provision of $9,774,748 was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
December 31, 2010.  

Based on the Escrow Agreement described above, an amount, due from Escrow Agent and litigation recovery 
totalling $2,940,680, was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2010, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010, respectively.  
Following the developments of the Windsor Village litigation noted above, the Escrow Agreement was 
terminated on May 26, 2011 and the funds were transferred to the respective parties.  

An amount of $1,177,015 was recorded as a recoverable from CNC in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at December 31, 2010 under the warranties described above related to the Windsor Village litigation 
and other amounts related to Hurricane Ivan. On April 7, 2011, this amount was received from CNC. 

From a review of the judgment and advice obtained from legal counsel, CFI and SLCI were of the view that 
there are a number of properly arguable grounds for appeal in respect of the Mareva awards.  CFI filed notice 
of appeal on March 28, 2011 and made a payment of $9,686,897 into Court on May 31, 2011, as it awaited its 
Court of Appeal date.

Prior to the appeal being heard by the Court of Appeal, CFI and the various third parties agreed upon an 
out-of-court settlement and entered into a Deed of Settlement and Release Agreement dated October 14, 
2011, whereby the final and full settlement for the Mareva awards was agreed at a reduced amount. CFI then 
withdrew its appeal, recovered the monies previously paid into Court, and settled the agreed amounts.

On December 9, 2011, the Court issued its ruling on the issue of costs relating to both the counterclaims 
related to abuse of process and the Mareva Injunction undertaking. The Court ordered that CFI  must pay 
85% of the costs and disbursements of the consolidated trial to the third parties awarded damages under the 
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Mareva Injunction undertaking, on the standard basis, whilst all of the third parties, jointly and severally, must 
pay 15% of the costs and disbursements of CFI, on a standard basis.  

Management’s view, supported by legal advice, is that the Court has ruled inequitably on the issue, as the 
majority of time spent and costs incurred related to the abuse of process claims, which CFI was successful in 
defending. CFI has, therefore, subsequently filed notice of appeal against the ruling. Prior to the appeal being 
heard by the Court of Appeal, CFI and the various third parties entered into a Deed of Settlement and Release 
Agreement dated January 30, 2013, whereby the final and full settlement for all claims in the proceedings 
between CFI and the third parties were agreed upon. CFI has withdrawn its appeal and settled the agreed 
amount in full.

The provision of $1,460,125 (2011: $895,289) in the consolidated statement of financial position at December 
31, 2012 represents management’s estimate of the net costs payable to the third parties, in accordance with 
the Deed of Settlement and Release Agreement dated January 30, 2013, plus estimated legal fees to close out 
the two open litigation matters referred to above. 

Based on the terms of the SPA described above, an amount, due from SLCI for litigation recovery totaling 
$515,728 was recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position (included in “sundry receivables 
and prepayments”) at December 31, 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, respectively. 

The movement in the provision for litigation during 2012 for the amounts provided for and recovered with 
respect to the Windsor Village litigation is a net increase of $685,545 (2011: net decrease of $46,344) and is 
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

2012 Land Buildings
Furniture and

Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements

and Others
Computer
Soft are Total

C ST LU T :

t anuar  1  1 $   $  1  $   $  1 1 1  $   $  1 1  

dditions        11 1  1   1  

is osals      1      1

t ecem er 1  1 $   $  1  $  1 1  $  1  $  1  $  1  

CCUMUL T  PR C T :

t anuar  1  1 $   $  1  $  1 1  $  1 1  $  1 11  $   

Charge for the ear    1     1     1 1 

is osals      1      1

t ecem er 1  1 $   $  1 1 1  $  1  $  1  $  1  $  1  

Carrying amount 2012 $  2,493,750 $  5,902,684 $  1,188,901 $  357,229 $  987,744 $  10,930,308 
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2011 Land Buildings
Furniture

and Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements

and Others
Computer
Soft are Total

C ST LU T :

t anuar  1  11 $  1  $   $  1  $  1  $   $  1 1  

dditions        1   1   1  

is osals    1      

t ecem er 1  11 $   $  1  $   $  1 1 1  $   $  1 1  

CCUMUL T  PR C T :

t anuar  1  11 $   $  1 1  $  1  $   $  1  $  1  

Charge for the ear    1       1   1 1  

is osals          1 1

t ecem er 1  11 $   $  1  $  1 1  $  1 1  $  1 11  $   

Carrying amount 2011 $  2,493,750 $  6,111,844 $  1,306,586 $  534,997 $  1,480,134 $  11,927,311 

 In August 2011, GBA’s property, appraised at $1,200,000 as at December 30, 2010, was sold for net proceeds of 
$1,115,563.  Proceeds from the sale were used to liquidate GBA’s payable to BFG. Based on the fair value less cost to 
sell the property, a loss of $75,999 was recognized on the sale and included in other income, net, in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

 
In December 2010, the land and buildings were revalued to fair market value based on a valuation performed by an 
independent appraiser for financial statement purposes.  The fair value of the land and buildings was estimated to 
be $3,018,750 and $6,996,250, respectively, based on the combined effect of the cost, income and sales comparison 
approach.  The net book value of the land and buildings of the Group, ignoring the effects of previous revaluations, 
would have been $2,118,844 and $4,201,690 (2011: $2,118,844 and $4,346,011) respectively.

14. BUSINESS COMBINATION
 

There were no acquisitions during 2012 and 2011. BFHIL, a wholly owned subsidiary acquired a 75.24% interest in 
CFI on June 17, 2010 with an effective date of January 1, 2010. Purchase consideration for the acquisition was partly 
funded by a non-revolving 10-year demand loan totaling $5,398,258 from The Cayman National Bank at a rate of 1.5% 
above U.S. prime rate (effective rate - 4.75%). As a prerequisite of the facility, CFI entered into a Deed of Guarantee 
dated June 21, 2010 guaranteeing the payment of the loan, all interest and all other sums payable in respect of 
the loan facility.  Pursuant to a pledge agreement dated June 21, 2010, CFI has provided to Cayman National Bank, 
security interest over its investments as collateral for the credit facility.  Consequently, CFI’s investments have been 
hypothecated to the extent required to collateralize the credit facility issued to BFHIL. The balance of the demand 
loan as at December 31, 2012 was $4,749,839 (2011: $5,222,812).

As per Note 1, in May 2011, the Board of Directors of CFI resolved to raise additional share capital by way of a rights 
issue to its existing shareholders.  In September 2011, CFI offered a rights issue of 1 share for every 2 shares held to all 
holders of its ordinary voting shares for a total offering of 500,000 additional shares.  One minority shareholder took 
up 125 shares at a cost of $949.  BFHIL acquired 499,875 shares to increase its equity holding from 75.24% to 83.48%.  
The effect of this 8.24% increase in BFHIL’s ownership resulted in an increase of $45,498 in contributed surplus and 
a corresponding decrease in non-controlling interest, and is reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity. 

  



51BAHAMAS FIRST HOLDINGS
2012 ANNUAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, EXPRESSED IN BAHAMIAN DOLLARS.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Intangible Assets

Good ill Finite Life Inde nite Life Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 $  7,125,088 $  1,675,808 $  2,692,559 $  11,493,455 

mortization    11    11

Balance at December 31, 2011 $  7,125,088 $  1,560,465 $  2,692,559 $  11,378,112 

c uisition of Customer Relationshi s     

mortization      1      1

Balance at December 31, 2012 $  7,125,088 $  2,146,892 $  2,692,559 $  11,964,539 

 In July 2012, NUA acquired the general insurance portfolio of one of BFG’s exclusive agents for a consideration of 
$475,000. In August 2012, NUA acquired the general insurance portfolio of one of its exclusive sub-agents for a 
consideration of $250,000.  Both acquisitions of customer relationships are expected to generate benefits to NUA 
over a finite period of time, and are therefore amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives.

 
Intangible assets, with finite useful lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives, and is included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

 
Intangible assets and goodwill acquired through business combinations with indefinite lives have been allocated to 
two cash-generating units, which are also operating and reportable segments, for impairment testing as follows:

Bahamas' cash generating unit $  1  

Ca man's cash generating unit  1  

$  9,817,647 

  The Group performed its annual impairment test as at December 31, 2012.  The recoverable amounts of both the 
Bahamas’ and Cayman’s cash-generating units have been determined using the fair value less costs to sell calculation.  
As the recoverable amounts exceeded the carrying amounts, management did not identify any impairment for either 
cash-generating unit.

16. BONDS PAYABLE

 On October 15th 2010, the Group effected a private offering of Series I & II Redeemable Cumulative Variable Rate 
Corporate Bonds (“the bonds”).  The net proceeds were used for general corporate purposes. Interest on the bonds 
is payable at B$ prime rate plus 1.75% and 2.00% respectively.  The bonds rank equally among themselves and with 
all other existing and future unsubordinated and unsecured debt of the Company.  The bonds rank senior to the 
Company’s existing and all future preference and ordinary shares.

 
Maturity dates are as follows:

• Series I bonds maturing October 15th, 2020, in the outstanding principal amount of $7,500,000. The bonds, while 
callable only at the option of the Company, may not be called prior to the fifth anniversary date from the closing 
date of the issue.

 
• Series II bonds maturing October 15th, 2025, in the outstanding principal amount of $7,500,000.  The bonds, while 

callable only at the option of the Company, may not be called prior to the tenth anniversary date from the closing 
date of the issue.
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The Company may at its option redeem in whole or in part any principal amount invested in the bond subject to a 
notice period of ninety days on any date following the expiration of the anniversary date for the respective series.

2012 2011

Series I Corporate Bonds 

$  at B$ rime rate  1  resentl    
11:  er annum  ue $

 
 $   

Series II Corporate Bonds 

$  at B$ rime rate   resentl   
   11:  er annum  ue 

 
   

ccrued interest     

Total $  15,248,438 $  15,248,438 

17. SHARE CAPITAL
 
 The Group’s share capital is comprised as follows:

2012 2011

Common shares

  uthorized:  11:  at $ 1 each

  ssued and full  aid:  1 11: 1  ar

    value $ 1 er share $   $   

Preference shares

  uthorized:  11:  at $1  each

  ssued and full  aid:  11:  ar

    value $1  er share $   $   

The calculation of basic earnings per share as at December 31, 2012 was based on comprehensive income 
attributable to common shareholders of $5,035,039 (2011: $478,676)  and weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding, adjusted by the number of common shares repurchased or issued during the year, of 36,240,528 
(2011: 36,224,073). There were no transactions that would dilute earnings per share.

 
Dividends are accounted for in the period in which they are declared by the Group’s Board of Directors.  During 
the year, dividends of $0.05 (2011: $0.04) per common share (total dividends $1,808,055 (2011: $1,460,219)) were 
declared and subsequently paid. The Preference Shares are non-convertible, non-voting, cumulative, redeemable 
“A” with a dividend rate of 7% per annum.  These shares are redeemable at the option of the Company.

 
Under the management bonus profit sharing scheme approved by the Board of Directors in 2007, senior managers 
may opt to acquire shares of the Company in lieu of receiving a profit sharing bonus.
 
In June 2011, the Board of Directors extended share options to two executives to purchase 100,000 shares each at 
a purchase price of $1.00. The options are exercisable over a three-year period but not later than June 3, 2014. The 
options were fully exercised during 2011. Since the Company’s shares are not derived from quoted prices, the fair 
value applied to the shares issued during 2011 was based on an independent valuation performed during the year.

 
During the year, 161,047 of the Company’s shares were repurchased for a total consideration of $241,570, and are 
recognized as a change in equity.  As at December 31, 2012, treasury shares comprise 344,363 (2011: 183,316) of the 
Company’s shares.  This represents 0.9% (2011: 0.5%) of the outstanding shares of the Company.
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18. GENERAL RESERVE

 The Group has established a general reserve from retained earnings in the amount of $4,000,000 (2011: $4,000,000), 
which the Board of Directors have determined is not available for distribution.

19. REVALUATION RESERVE

Land
& Buildings

AFS
Investments Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 $  1,779,082 $  508,404 $  2,287,486 

et decrease in fair value of FS investments ote     

Balance at December 31, 2011 $  1,779,082 $  303,767 $  2,082,849 

et increase in fair value of FS investments ote       

Balance at December 31, 2012 $  1,779,082 $  851,643 $  2,630,725 

 
 In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, freehold land and buildings are subject to a revaluation exercise 

that is performed by an independent professional appraiser every three years. Freehold land and buildings were 
independently valued at December 30, 2010. The next appraisal is due in 2013.

 

20. GROSS PREMIUMS WRITTEN

2012 2011

rou  agents and insurers $   $   

on rou  agents    1  

ssociate  1    

Total $  157,796,008 $  151,742,115 

21. OTHER INCOME, NET

2012 2011

nterest income $  1  $  1 1 1 

ividend income  1   1  

Claim handling fees  1   1  

Share of net earnings from associate ote  1   111 

Other income    1  

ain loss  on dis osal of ro ert  and e ui ment  1   1

Realized gains on sales of investments ote     

Service fees     

rite ac  of rovision for ad de ts     

mortization of remiums and discounts on onds ote  1  11

Total $  2,184,176 $  2,493,838 
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22. SALARIES, BENEFITS AND BONUSES
 

Included in salaries, benefits and bonuses is a bonus payable to management and staff amounting to $846,814  
(2011: $335,680). This amount was determined and approved by the Board of Directors.

23. PENSION PLAN
 

Employees of the Group participate in defined contribution plans registered in The Bahamas and in the Cayman 
Islands. These plans are administered by independent administrators and trustees and membership is mandatory 
for all eligible employees.  Under these plans, the Group paid contributions of 3% - 5% per annum of base salary.  
Contributions under these plans totalled $351,962 (2011: $353,968) and are included in “Salaries, benefits and bonuses” 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

 
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
 
  Related party transactions and balances are as follows:

2012 2011

ross remiums ritten  $  1  $   

Commission e ense  associate $  $ 1 1 $   

Trade accounts receiva le   associate $   $  1  

irectors fees aid $   $  1  
 
  The trade accounts receivable - associate is secured by a guarantee.  The receivable balance will be settled in cash.  

No expense has been recognized in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related 
parties.

 
Key management personnel include members of the Group’s management team having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group’s operation.  Compensation to key management 
personnel is included in salaries, benefits and bonuses in the consolidated  statement of comprehensive income and  
receivables from key  management personnel is included in sundry receivables and prepayments in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and are as follows:

2012 2011

Salaries and other ene ts $  1 1  $  1 1  

Post em lo ment ene ts    1  

Total $  1,516,399 $  1,337,073 

Receiva les from e  management ersonnel $   $  1  
 
 As part of its reinsurance program, the Group purchases reinsurance from Economical Mutual Insurance Company 

(“Economical”) for motor and liability quota share. Economical holds a 20% ownership in the Group. The ceded motor 
and liability quota share is 50.5% and Economical’s reinsurance participation is 10%.

 25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
 Commitments
 
 The Group has commitments relating to leased premises. The Group has leased office space with expiration terms 

and renewal terms extending up to five years. Lease terms vary with the last lease term expiring in 2018.  
The Group also had a sublease on one of the locations which expired in 2012. Rent expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 totalled $730,351 (2011: $710,154). The related sublease payments were $22,782 (2011: $35,750).
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Future lease payments under the operating leases and the sublease income are as follows:

2012 < 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years Total
O erating lease agreements and rental a ments $  1  $   $   $  1 1  

Su lease a ments receiva le         

Total $  752,718 $  744,426 $   $  1,497,144 

2011 < 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years Total

O erating lease agreements and rental a ments $   $   $   $  1 1  

Su lease a ments receiva le      

Total $  695,562 $  934,229 $   $  1,629,791 
 
 Contingencies
 

In the normal course of its business, the Group is involved in various legal proceedings arising out of and incidental to 
its insurance operations.  The Group is of the opinion that litigation arising from these legal proceedings will not have 
a significant impact on the financial position, results of operation or cash flows of the Group.

26. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
 
 In accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, the Group has identified the Chief Operating Decision Maker as the 

Board of Directors. Key decisions on assessing performance and allocation of resources are reviewed by the Board 
or its sub-committees. The Group’s operations are segmented into the following business segments by geographic 
location:

• General Insurance / Property and Casualty (P&C)
• Health and Life (H&L)

 
The segment results for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Bahamas Cayman
P&C P&C H&L Total

2012
et under riting income $  1 1     11   

e reciation of ro ert   e ui ment  1 1 1   1     1 1 

mortization of intangi le assets  1       1  

Segment Pro t for the ear  1 1   1   1   1 1 1 

Total segment assets  1 1     1 1   1  

Total segment lia ilities  1 1       1  

Ca ital e enditure  1       1  

P&C P&C H&L Total

2011 (restated)

et under riting income $  11     1   1 1 1 

e reciation of ro ert   e ui ment 1 1  111   11  1 1

mortization of intangi le assets  11       11  

Segment Pro t for the ear   1   1 1 1  1 1 1 

Total segment assets  1     11   1  

Total segment lia ilities  1 1  11  1  1 1 1  

Ca ital e enditure    1 1     1  
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27. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR COST OF EXCESS OF LOSS REINSURANCE
 
 During the current year, the Company changed the accounting policy for recognizing the excess of loss reinsurance 

costs. IFRS 4 – Insurance Contracts does not provide specific guidance on the earnings recognition of insurance 
premiums or reinsurance costs.  In prior years, the excess of loss reinsurance costs were deferred and recognized over 
the effective term of the underlying written catastrophic policies. Under the revised accounting policy, the Company 
recognizes excess of loss reinsurance costs over the term of the excess of loss reinsurance contract thereby aligning 
the recognition of the reinsurance costs with the term of the excess of loss reinsurance coverage.  

 
In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the 2011 comparative 
financial statements have been restated to conform with this change in accounting policy as follows:

2011 Audited Adjustments 2011 Restated

Statement Of Financial Position $ $ $

Assets:

eferred reinsurance costs at anuar  1  11        

eferred reinsurance costs at ecem er 1  11        

Equity:

Retained earnings at anuar  1  11  1   1 1  1 1  

Retained earnings at ecem er 1  11  1    1 1 

on controlling interest at anuar  1  11  1 1   1  

on controlling interest at ecem er 1  11  1 1    1 

Statement Of Comprehensive Income

Cost of e cess of loss reinsurance  1 1 1    1  

Total Com rehensive ncome for the ear       

ttri uta le to:

O ners of the Parent      

on controlling interest  1 1     

$   $   $   
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TECHNICAL REVIEW 
& RISK COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE

The committee is responsible 
for ensuring adherence to risk 
management guidelines as they 
relate to reviewing and assessing 
technical and reinsurance matters.  

MEMBERS:   
Brian Murphy (CFI) - Chairman
Bharat Kannan
Tracy Bonczek
Valerie Darville
John A. G. Dunkley
Glen O. A. Ritchie
Pauline P. Ward
Keith Rolle
Patrick G.W. Ward

BFH HAS DEVELOPED A COMPLIANCE FRAMEWORK that gives each of our employees, agents and strategic partners 
the resources, guidance and tools necessary to make ethical and value-based decisions that will effectively minimize 

and manage the risks inherent to our business, while maximizing shareholder value. It is a framework based on the 
belief that good governance requires adherence to all legal requirements, regulations and our stated Company policies, 
as well as a developed culture of responsibility. Five corporate governance committees of the Board are in place, each 
chaired by a non executive director.

AUDIT COMMITTEE The committee assists the Board in 
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities as 
they relate to the Group’s accounting 
policies, financial reporting, internal 
control and the legal and regulatory 
environment. 

MEMBERS: 
Alison Treco - Chairman
Ian D. Fair
John A. G. Dunkley
Bharat Kannan

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CONDUCT 
REVIEW & NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

The committee measures the Group’s 
governance against best practices and 
makes recommendations for Board 
appointments and composition. 

MEMBERS:   
Ian D. Fair - Chairman
Judith Whitehead
Karen Gavan

HUMAN RESOURCES 
& COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE

The committee is responsible for 
reviewing and approving the Group’s 
compensation plan, and evaluating 
executive performance. 

MEMBERS:   
Ian D. Fair - Chairman
Alison Treco

FINANCE & INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

The committee focuses on two 
objectives: financial risk management 
and investment policy oversight. 

MEMBERS:   
Ian D. Fair - Chairman
Alison Treco
John A. G. Dunkley
Glen O. A. Ritchie
Patrick G.W. Ward
Karen Gavan

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

THE BFH GROUP 
RETIREMENT FUND 
COMMITTEE

Plan Administrator:
Colonial Pension Services  
(Bahamas) Limited

Trustee/Custodian:
Butterfield Bank (Bahamas) Limited

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE:   

Company Representatives: 
Glen O. A. Ritchie, Chairman 
John A. G.  Dunkley

Staff Representatives: 
Kevin Hudson
Warren Rolle
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OUR EXTENSIVE NETWORK OF AGENTS in The Bahamas stretches from Grand Bahama to Inagua and everywhere 
in between. In the Cayman Islands, we enjoy the support of a vibrant network of agents and brokers for all of our 

product lines. They have been the backbone of our Company since we first offered insurance services, and continue to 
deliver the highest quality of service to our customers.

THE BAHAMAS:

NEW PROVIDENCE

A Scott Fitzgerald Insurance Brokers & Agents | (242) 324-0865

Chandler Gilbert Insurance Associates Limited | (242) 676-2306

CMA Insurance Brokers & Agents | (242) 393-6735

Colina General Insurance Agency | (242) 677-2050

Confidence Insurance Brokers & Agents | (242) 323-6920

FG Insurance Agents & Brokers Limited | (242) 396-1300

FINCO | (242) 328-0559

LIV Insurance Agents and Brokers Ltd. | (242) 361-5123

N.U.A. Insurance Agents & Brokers Ltd. | (242) 328-5992

Professional Insurance Consultants | (242) 327-2143

Response Insurance Agency Ltd. | (242) 328-7316

Star General Insurance Agency | (242) 676-0800

Sunshine Insurance Agency | (242) 394-0011

Tavares Higgs Insurance Brokers & Agents | (242) 327-8606

ABACO

Abaco Insurance Agency | (242) 367-2549

GRAND BAHAMA

General Brokers & Agents Insurance Ltd. | (242) 352-7891

Star General Insurance (G.B.) Ltd. | (242) 352-5705

CAYMAN ISLANDS:

CAYMAN BRAC

Brac Insurance Associates | (345) 948-2266

GRAND CAYMAN

AON Risk Solutions (Cayman) Ltd | (345) 949-0111

Balderamos Insurance Services Ltd. | (345) 945-3450

Caribbean Insurance Practice | (345) 943-2475

Cayman Insurance Centre | (345) 949-4657

Bogle Insurance Brokers Limited | (345) 949-0579

Fidelity Insurance (Cayman) Ltd. | (345) 949-5836

FIS Insurance Brokers | (345) 945-5616

Island Insurance Brokers Ltd. | (345) 949-0883

Jen International Insurance Brokers | (345) 943-5442

Marsh Management Services Cayman | (345) 949-7988

Quik Care Insurance Brokers | (345) 946-2273

AUTHORIZED AGENTS & BROKERS
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HEAD OFFICE

Bahamas First Centre
32 Collins Avenue
Nassau, Bahamas
T: (242) 302-3900
F: (242) 302-3901
info@bahamasfirst.com
www.bahamasfirst.com

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche
Chartered Accountants
and Management Consultants
2nd Terrace, Centreville
Nassau, Bahamas

ATTORNEYS

Graham Thompson & Co.   Maples and Calder
Sassoon House     Ugland House
Shirley Street & Victoria Avenue  Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands
Nassau, Bahamas

REGISTRAR & TRANSFER AGENTS

Bahamas Central Securities Depository Limited (BCSD)
50 Exchange Place, Bay Street
Nassau, Bahamas

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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